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INTRODUCTION

1. By its resolution 1989/66 of 8 March 1989, the Commission on Human Rights
decided to extend the mandate of its Special Representative on the situation
of human rights and fundamental freedoms in the Islamic Republic of Iram, as
contained in its resolution 1984/54, for a further year, and requested the
Special . Representative to present an interim report to the General Assembly at
its forty-fourth session and a final report to the Commission at its
forty-sixth session. By its decision 1989/148 of 24 May 1989, the Economic
and Social Council endorsed that resolutlon.

2. In compliance with the above-mentloned resolution, the Special
Representative presented an interim report (A/44/620) to the General Assembly
and herewith submits his final report to the Commission.

3. As in previous years, the interim report concentrated on oral and written
_communications with Government officials and on complaints concerning events
"that in some way affected the human rights situation in the Islamic Republic
of Iran and concluded with general observations. It was stated in the report
that the final report would consider the points of view contained in the
letters dated 26 June and 12 September 1989 (A/44/620, paras. 9 and 13) and
the official opinions that came’ to the Special Representative's attention. It
was also indicated that, as-in previous years, the interim report had been
planned and written as the first part of the final report, owing to the
relatively short interval between the preparation of the two reports
(A/b4/620, para. 6)

w A This’ flnal report refers to-the matters mentLoned.ln the. interim.report, .-
updates ‘the ‘events- that in some way affected the human rights situationm in -~
the Islamic Republic of Iran, using the information that the Special
Representative has continued to receive from October 1989 to January 1990, and
adds a completely new chapter on the visit which the Special Representative.
made to the Islamic Republic of Iran from 21 to 28 January 1990 at the
1nv1tat10n of the Iranlan Government

5. Follow1ng the established pattern this final report is divided into the
following chapters: Introduction; I. Contacts and communications with the
‘Government -of the Islamic Republic of Iranj; II. Information received by the
Special Representative; III. Consideration of official opinions relating to
the implementation of international human rights standardsj IV. Visit to the
Islamic Republic of Iran; and V. Conclusions and Recommendations. As in
previous reports, various annexes are attached containing information on
events and complaints referred to in the main body of .the report. The lists
received have been extremely long and, at times, due .to the different sources,
have repeated the same information and it has been necessary to prepare
consolidated lists, particularly with regard to persons executed. The lists
that have contained only names or numbers of executions, with no mention of
other details, have not been included. It has not been possible to include
the lists of names of political prisoners, for doing so would have doubled the
number of pages of this document. The correspondence and documents received
are so numerous and so voluminous that it has only been possible to give a
brief indication of their contents. All are available in the Centre for Human
nghts to members who wish to consult them.




E/CN.4/1990/24
page 2

I. CONTACTS AND COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE GOVERNMENT
OF THE ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAN

A. Personal contacts with.Iranian representatives

6. On 16 November 1989, the Special Representative had a long talk in

New York with the Permanent Representative of the Islamic Republic of Iran to
the United Nations, Ambassador Kamal Kharrazi, who was accompanied by members
of the Permanent Mission. In this as in the following conversations with
Iranian officials, the Chief of the Special Procedures Section of the Centre
for Human Rights accompanied the Special Representative.

7. On 16 November, the Permanent Representative requested the Special
Representative to include in the presentation of his interim report to the
Third Committee of the General Assembly the statements by the Government
reproduced below; the Special Representative granted that request. The
statements read:

"]1. No political motivation has been involved in the trial and
conviction of any drug trafficker;

2. The charge that the execution of drug traffickers has been used as a
pretext for political executions is totally false and all .persons
convicted for drug trafficking have been solely and exclusively ordinary
criminals;

3. The amnesty granted in early 1989 to some 2,500 prisoners was a

.-.genulne measure. of clemency and all those released returned to their =

“homes . "

8. The same conversation dealt with the disagreement of the Government of:
the Islamic Republic of Iran with certain parts of the interim report.. The
Special Representative also repeated his recommendations for improvements in
the human rights situation in the country, in accordance with previous reports
and with the 1989 interim report. The Permanent Representative of the Islamic
Republic of Iran indicated his Government's willingness to proceed in
accordance with paragraph 125 of the interim report, which refers to full
co-operation with the Special Representative, including a visit to the.
country, and the possibility of resuming a dialogue with the countries
sponsoring the General Assembly resolution on this item for the purpose of
obtaining a consensus resolution.

9. Both the 16 November talk and the extensive conversations of 21 and

22 November, dealt with the texts of notes that the Permanent Representative
and the Special Representative might exchange in order to pave the way for a
possible consensus resolution. After considering several possibilities and.
discussing every word, they arrived at the texts reproduced in paragraphs 11
to 13 of this report. J :
10. 1In order to agree on the details of the visit to the country, the

Special Representative sent two letters to the Permanent Representative of -

the Islamic Republic of Iran to the United Nations Offlce at Geneva,
Ambassador Sirous Nasseri. On 16 January, the Special Representative received
oral confirmation from Ambassador Nasseri that the dates 21 to 28 January were

~acceptable to his Government. During that conversation, they also discussed
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procedural details based on the terms of reference for the visit transmitted
to the Government on 24 November 1988 (see paras. 11 and 12) and the initial
1ist of interviews included in the Special Representative's letter dated

8 January 1990. Ambassador Nasseri said that his Government would co—operate
fully so that the visit would take place and yield positive results.

B. .written ggmmgniggtigng“With the Government of
- the Islam'g gpgb ic of Irgn -

11. On 24 November 1989, the Spec1al Representatlve sent the follow1ng letter
to the Permanent Representatlve of the Islamic Republlc of Iran:

"I should 11ke to refer to the conversatlons we had on 16, 21 and
22 November 1989.‘_ : . : .

Let me express my appre01at10n for the constructive sp1r1t whlch

characterized our exchange of views. I have taken note with great

. interest of your observations regarding my interim report to the
General Assembly and, in particular, of the information you conveyed to

- me that your Government is considering to extend an invitation to me to
vigit the Islamic Republlc of Iran. As I have repeatedly stated .on
previous occasions, .I feel that such a visit would be very useful as it
would enable me- to.obtain first-hand information. on the human .rights
situation in your country and to report to the Commission on Human Rights
at its forty-sixth session in a more comprehensive way. i

-If your . Government were to extend such an.invitation, my visit would
-~have- to be conducted in the framework. of the establlshed practice.
..observed during many similar United Nations missions in the field.of =~~~ = .
human rights in the past. In this connection, I am attaching the
standard terms for reference for such missions as prepared by the Centre
for Human R1ghts.

v The Centre for Human Rights would. provide you w1th a tentative
programme well in advance of the visit in order to enable your
authorities to make the necessary arrangements and to complete them as

. may be considered convenient." :

Sl R ows

12. The terms of reference for the visit, described in the annex to the

letter, were as follows:

; ."During fact-finding missions, Special Rapporteurs or

. Representantives of .the Commission on Human Rights, as well as .. .
United Nations staff accompanying them, should ‘be given the following
guarantees and facilities by the Government who invited them to visit
its country: ‘

‘(1) Freedom of movement in the whole country, including N
facilitation of transport, in particular to restricted areas.

(2) Freedom of inquiry, in particular as regards: (a) access to
all prisons, detention centres and places of interrogation; (b) contacts
with central and local authorities of all branches of the Government;
(c) contacts with representatives of non-governmental organizations,

-
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13,

.mtominﬁormuthatwthemjudicial.authonitiesmofMtheMIslamic_Republicnoﬁ,LIan

other private institutions and the media; (d) contacts with witnesses and
other private persons considered necessary in the fulfilment of the
mandate; (e) full access to all documentary material relevant to the
mandate. ’

(3) Assurances by the Government that no persons, official or
private, who have been in contact with the Special Rapporteur/
Representative in relation to his mandate, would, for this reason, suffer
threats, harassment or punishment or be subjected to Jud1c1a1 proceedlngs.

(4) Appropriate securlty arrangements, without, however,
restricting the freedom of movement and inquiry referred to above.

(5) Before, during and after the visit, the Special Rapporteur/
Representative will be assisted by the appropriate United Natioms staff,
who must be given the same guarantees and facilities as mentioned above.'

The Permanent Representative's reply, dated the same day, was as . follows.

"] have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter’ and its
enclosure dated 24 November 1989, and would like to extend to .
Your Excellency the invitation of my Government to visit the Islamic -
Republic of Iran so as to enable you to present your report to the 46th

session of the Commission on Human Rights based on realities rather than
.allegations. :

My Government will extend to you its full co-operation. I also wish

~gré” furthermore prepared to provide-themecessary background on Islamic -

14.

Jurlsprudence and the legal procedures of the Islamic Republlc of Iran to
familiarize you with the overall system. oo o

The exact time and procedure of your visit to the Islamic Republic
of Iran will be finalized in consultation with you and approprlate
members of the Secretariat." J .

On 22 December 1989, the Special Representative sent the following note

" to the Permanent Representative of the Islamic Republic of Iran to the
United Nations Office at Geneva: .

"] have the honour to refer to the invitation which your Government,
by letter from its Permanent Representative to the United Nations dated
24 November 1989, extended to me to visit the Islamic Republic of Iran so
as to enable me to present a report to the Comm1881on on Human nghts at
its forty-sixth session. .

In expressing my sincere appreciation for your Government's
invitation, I should like to propose that my visit take place from 16 to
25 January 1990. I would be grateful if you could advise me whether the
suggested dates are convenient for your Government. Upon confirmation of
the dates, I shall provide you with a list of the United Nations staff

. which will accompany me on my visit, together with a list of requested

appointmonts with Iranian officials, as well as of places which I would
like ‘to visit during my stay in the Islamic Republic of:Iran.”
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15. As the Special Representative was informed by the. Permanent
Representative that some of the officials the Special Representatlve wished to
interview would not be in Tehran on the days mentioned in the letter above,
new dates were proposed in another communication dated 8 January 1990, which
reads as follows:

"Upon arrival at Geneva for consultations relating to my mandate at
the Centre for Human Rights, I have learned that the dates 16 to
25 January which I proposed for my visit to the Islamic Republic -of Iran
do not :appear .to -be convenient to your Government. In this connection, I
wish to stress that, in order to énable me to report in time to .the
forty-sixth session of the Commission on Human Rights, as envisaged .in
the exchange of letters with Ambassador Kharrazi, my visit would have to
take place in January. I therefore propose that the visit commence at
the latest on-Saturday, 20 January 1990, for a duration of 8 or’
10 worklng days.-»' : : -

I would further be grateful if you could communlcate to the
competent authorities the attached initial list of appointments and
visits which I have prepared at the request addressed to me by you and
your colleagues in New York. I shall not fail to inform you of my
additional meetings or visits which in the light of my current series of
consultations I might consider necessary or useful. It would be

- appreciated if the appointments with members of the Government -and - -
officials could be scheduled for the morning so as to leave time in the
afternoon for my meetings with private persons outside the official
programme as well as for any other arrangements or visits which I might-

“‘request in the_course_ of the v;s;L, .

I also w1sh to mention that, in accordance with usual practice, the
arrangements for my visit concerning hotel bookings, provision of
transport facilities and the organization of my meetings outside the
official programme will be taken care of by the Resident Representantive
of UNDP in Tehran. - The expenses for these arrangements will of course be-
borne: by the United Natlons. -

I.am looklng forward to receiving at your earliest convenience a -
confirmation of the dates for my visit and shall send you in turn the
list of the staff of the Secretariat of the United Nations who will
acompany me."

16. On 28 January 1990, the Special Representative sent the followlng letter
to the Minister for Foreign Affalrs, Mr. Ali Akbar Velayati: : '

"Upon the completlon of my visit to the Islamlc Republlc of Iran, I -
should like to express again my sincere gratitude for the invitation your
Government extended to me in the framework of Commission -on Human nghts-r
resolutions 1984/54 and 1989/66 and for the arrangements made durlng my
stay in your country.

The meetings your Ministry kindly arranged for me with many
distinguished representatives of the executive, judicial and legislative
branches of your Government have been most useful and have given me an -
invaluable insight into the Islamic principles by which your country's
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legal system is inspired. The information I could gather/in the meetings
as well as in the many other contacts and conversations I had during my
visit will greatly assist me in preparing my report to the forthcoming
session of the Commission on Human Rights.

I have had occasion during my visit to express my deep concern over
the continuing high number of death sentences pronounced in particular by
the Islamic Revolution Courts and should like to appeal to your

. Government to consider granting clemency to as many convicted persons as
possible; and in cases in which death sentences cannot be commuted to
make sure that all safeguards stipulated in the International Covenant on
Civil and Political .Rights, particulafly in its article 14, have been
fully respected in the preceding trials. ' :

Permit me finally to request your kind intervention with-the
competent authorities in the case of Eng. Amir Entezam, presently
detained at Evin prison, whose critical health situation urgently
requires adequate medical treatment." . .

" II. INFORMATION RECEIVED BY THE SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE

A. Oral informatiom -

17. Between 8 and 19 January 1989, the Special Representative heard further
witnesses in connection with the human rights situation in the Islamic
Republic of Iran; some of them referred to developments that differed from
those recorded ‘in the statements which were heard on 10, 12, 13 and

“;‘IT;Ju;yjIQBQ"quwwere~described~in~detail—inwthemintexim“reportm(A/A446204;wh,. R
paras. 17-57). ~~ o S R - e R

1. Substitute imprisonment

18. On 9 January, the Special Representative heard testimony by ‘persons ‘who
requested that their identity should not be revealed for reasons of -personal
safety. The first witness stated that she had been held for eight years .in
Evin prison and accused of conspiring with her husband and her brother, who
belonged to the People's Mojahedin Organization. -Her husband, brother and
brother-in-law were executed in 1983. After she had been in prison-—for .-
three years, she underwent a trial which.lasted about three minutes. As she
had been pregnant at the time of her arrest, she was allowed to ‘give birth to

Jher daughter outside the prison, but after the birth she was taken back to
'prison with her baby. Because her health was poor, particularly her mental
health, she was sent to a mountain area, from which she was able to:escape.

Two groups tried to cross the border, but since she was still not well, her
daughter was entrusted to a person in the second group. The members of her
group managed to cross the border, but the persons in the other group were
captured and her daughter was with them. Since she had fled, her daughter_
stayed in Evin prison and is still there. She is now eight years old and is
in section 7, cell No. 204. '

19. A former Iranian journalist stated that he had been held in Evin and
Ghezel-Hessar prisons from 1982 to 1985 on charges of co—operating with the

‘Western press. His sister was arrested and executed in 1982 for her-links
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with the People's Mojahedin, but he was and continues to be independent. :
After a five-minute trial, he was sentenced to eight years' imprisonment. As
he managed to flee the country, his father was taken hostage and is still in‘
section 6 of Evin prison without having been brought to trial.

2. Execution of personsg serving prison sentences

20. One witness reported that her husband, a psychiatrist by profession, had
been arrested in 1981 and shortly afterwards sentenced to several years'
imprisonment; but she managed to get out of the country. During the time her
husband was in prison, the relatives had to pay 20,000 rials a month to cover
his personal expenses. The relatives were able to visit him once a month for
a few minutes at a time. In July 1988, the visits were suspended and, at the_
‘end of that year, the relatives were informed of his execution. .

21. Another witness stated that her husband had been arrested in 1983 and,

..although it could not be proved that he had been involved in activities

prejudicial to State securlty, he was sentenced to 15 years' imprisonment for
his:leftist political views. He was later sentenced to death. When he and
other prisoners were being taken to the gallows, a guard told him to say a
prayer and he said that he did not know any. The guards decided that he was
not worth the bullets they would have to use to shoot him and took him back to
the prison to torture him, with the result that he had to be taken to the
hospital, from which he was able to escape. According to this witness, ‘1iving
conditions in Evin have improved in the past few weeks. There were only four
prisoners to a cell, there was a small kitchen where the prisoners could cook
and a store had been opened.

Her husband was arrested and sentenced to a prison term; years later, in 1988,
her 12-year-old brother-—in-law was notified, by means of a telephone call from
a person who identified hlmself as an official from Ev1n prison, that the
prisoner had been executed.

3. ZTri Islamic Revoluti rt
23. The witness Mohammad Reza described his experlence before a revolutlonary
court-and in prison while he was being interrogated and later while 'he was
serving a life sentence. Fifteen members of his family were executed but he
managed to escape while being transferred from Evin to another detentxon'_
centre. He said that the revolutionary courts are divided into 13 sectlons,A
each with its own prosecutor. The sections specialize in specific charges and
offences; some deal with the Mojahedin, others with communists and leftists in
general and still others with religious offences, 1nc1ud1ng dissent from E
Islam. . According to the witness, sections 6 and 7 are particularly feared
because the sentence they invariably pronounce is death. The witness also

" stated that drugs were used during interrogations and that he knew this =~

because a cousin of his was interrogated while under the influence ofpa ges;ci

4, ntencing of r f women to death

' 24. The Special Representative received information that 13 women prisoners
. had been sentenced to death and might be executed within the next few days or

weeks. A committee set up to defend them was represented by three persons,

who stated that any prisoners who might be released could be given asylum in
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Berlin, according to a letter signed by the mayor of that city. The Ministry
of the Interior of the Federal Republic of Germany had reportedly also stated
that it was prepared to grant them asylum. With the consent of their
families, the names of eight of the women sentenced to death are given below:
Zohreh Gaheni, Soraya Kiani, Dr. Mitra Ameli, Fatemeh Houssenzadeh-Tussi
Maghadam, Fatemeh Izadi, Nahid Bourudiahi, Gutti Azarang and Malakeh Mohammed.

5. Request for information on a missing person

25. Mr. Claude Esbert, a French national, appeared before the

Special Representative on 8 January to describe the case of his daughter, .
Annie, a French nurse, and to request assistance in obtalning information on
her whereabouts. Her husband, an Iranian citizen, joined the forces which
invaded the Islamic Republic of Iran in July 1988. As far as Mr. Esbert has
been able to find out, his daughter joined a group of Iranian civilian nurses
as a volunteer and accompanied the July 1988 insurgent expedition. The

 ambulance in which she was travelling was immobilized by artillery fire in the
'Is1amabad—Garb—Kermanshah region. An Iranian newspaper reported that a French

nurse had been wounded and arrested. Mr. Esbert has requested 3551stance from
the Red Cross and the French Government but has been unable to.obtain definite
information about what happened to his daughter. He has also been in contact
with the Iranian Embassy in Paris, where he was told that what might have .
happened is that his daughter died during an air raid. He wants to be told
whether his daughter is alive or dead and, if she is dead, where she is
buried. -

6. Testimonies concerning tgrrgriam

‘:f;Zéﬁ The Soczety forwthe Protectlon ‘of Victims_ of Terrorism, descrlbed as a. .. ..
'non—governmental organlzatlon with headquarters in the Islamic. Republic of

Iran, was represented by Mr. Saide Henati, who said that three of the persons .
accompanying him were members of the organ1zat10n but were all ordinary
citizens, without any official responsibility or publlc office, and were
travelling on their own account, with some assistance from the organization.

27. Mr. Henati stated that three of the persons accompanying him were former

“members of the Mojahedin and therefore knew the methods of operation and plans
. of that organization, which he said was of a terrorist nature.- The former

members of the Mojahedin had reflected, repented and been forg1ven, and were
peacefully reintegrated within Iranian society. Mr. Henati also made _
available several letters from victims of terrorism who had been unable to
travel to Geneva.

28. The seven witnesses whose statements are summarized below requested that
their names should not be revealed. The first witness stated that he had
joined the Mojahedin in the year 1357 (1979) and continued to belong to the
organization until 1361 (1983). He had found the organization's programme and .
publications very attractive, but after a year and a half he had begun to
realize that the actual situation did not correspond to the programme and
publications that had won him over and aroused his enthusiasm. His conscience
had begun to bother him because he had committed reprehensible acts. He
referred to the operation which he had led against an engine driver who was a
Hezbollah (partlsan of God) and in which the men he was leading had also




‘and_had contacts w.in,..!igég_ce ». Iraq and Germany. He was arrested a .se.c,orad_ ,t;_ime
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killed the wife and son of the main victim. The instructions he had recéived.
required him to ask for the identity card of any person suspected of being a~
Hezbollah and, if such a person showed a Hezbollah card or even showed no card
at all, he was to be executed on the spot. ) R
29. The second witness also stated that he had belonged to the MOJahedln
organization, but had changed his way of thlnklng and was now working to ‘help”
the victims of terrorism. He had been responsible for supplying weapons and
ammunition for armed groups and had risen to an important position in the
organization. One of his responsibilities had been to give instruction to the
young people joining these groups. They were given cyanide tablets so that,
in the event of arrest, they could avoid torture and also keep the secrets
they knew. In order to keep secrets, there was a man in one safe house who
was supposed to kill his companions if the police arrived. He was finally
arrested, tried and sentenced to imprisonment; when he was released, he was
invited to join the Society for the Protection of Victims of Terrorism, to
which he now belongs and whose work he regards as an important means of
preventing other young people from following the wrong path.

30. The third witness said that he had been in prison for seven years as a -
political prisoner. He joined the Mojahedin when he was a student, before the
Revolution. Although he tended to be in favour of political struggle, he
gradually came to support armed struggle. He gave himself totally to the
Mojahedin organization, moved up in the ranks, and carried out and gave orders
without taking time to reflect on what he was doing. Since he had made a full
confession at the time of his arrest, he was not given a lengthy sentence. He
was released after three years, continued working with the same organization,

safeguard the 1nformat10n he possessed, but the plan was a trap- because he was
supposed to d1e as he was leaving his prison. When he realized this, he
decided to make a complete break with the Mojahedin.

31. The fourth w1tness had not been a member of any organization. . He
described himself as a very religious man who had been attacked by terrorlsts
in the street. He showed a piece of paper stained with his blood. According
to his statement, some Mojahedin had tried to take his motorcycle away from
him, but he .put up.a fight. Since the motorcycle did not have much petrol
left, the attackers came to a stop not far away; he took advantage of the,
opportunity to run and try to .get his vehicle back. At that point, the
attackers tried to steal another motorcycle. He asked them why they were
acting in that way, a fight broke out and they fired a shot that hit him in .
the leg. Some persons helped him and stopped his attackers. One of them
swallowed a cyanide tablet. He submitted a copy of the confession by the
attacker who had been captured.

32. The three other persons were young women who had lost their husbands or
close relatives as a result of violence. To give evidence of the sufferlng of
private citizens, they had accepted the invitation of the Society for -the - ‘
Protection of Victims of Terrorism. The first woman said that her father and
brother had been killed by the Mojahedin Khalq. Her father had been a hard
worker and her brother a secondary-school student. Her father had been
working in his shop when the Mojahedin came to kill him; her brother tried to -
help him, but he was also killed. Her father and her brother had not been
political activitists, but had simply been supporters of the Islamic
Government. :
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33. Another witness was a widow, whose husband had been kllled as he was
leaving their home. He had not held any official p031t10n, but had been doing
community work; the Mojahedin therefore suspected him of working for the
Islamic Government and decided to get rid of him. She said that that
organization had claimed responsibility for 26 deaths in her neighbourhood.
The last witness in the group, another widow, said that her husband and son
had been killed in their grocery store,s1mply because they had been devout
Muslims and were regarded as supporters of the Islamic Government.

B. Written information

1. Information from individual sources

34. During the period between the announcement of the invitation and the
departure of the Spec1al Representative to the Islamic Republic of Iran, some
1,500 Iranian emigrés or relatives of Iranians living abroad addressed
communications to the Spec1al Representative. Some 800 such.communications.
were writen in Persian and.could not be translated due to lack of time.. The .
remaining 700 were written in English, French and German and the allegations
they contain can be divided into the following categories:

Alleged Cases Of €XECULIONS eeseeeeccsesssannnes 1,529

Alleged cases Of tOorture ........ccceeceececencn 1,450

L Alleged cases of disappearances ....ceeceiececccen 815 N

Cases with 1nformat10n about prisoners
and prlson condltlons ...................;.... 102

35. Many ‘of those letters contain detalled descrlptlons df the 1mprlsonment
torture and/or execution of relatives and friends. Statements made by -Iranian
emigrés to the media in various countries were also brought to the attentionm -

: of the Special Representative. By way of example, the contents of a few

i letters reporting to events and situations of a more recent date ‘are

%' summarized below.

K (i) Akbar Mosaferi, an Iranian air force mechanic¢, stated in Istanbul,
Turkey, in August 1989 that people who had been 'puzzled ‘about the
cause of a foul stench o6ver a piece of land near Islamabad in

| August 1988 had dug it up and disinterred the decomposed remains of
i 25 people who had obviously been executed. Among the dead he had -
identified Ali Ghaffari, his former schoolmate, who" he knew had been
in prlson for several years. '

(ii) 1Ibrahim Boorboor stated in Amsterdam, Netherlands, on 5 June 1989 b
that in August 1988 30 political prisoners had been transferred from
Bandar-Azali to Rasht prison in the north of the country. Their
relatives had been worried about the transfer and had asked the

i prison authorities why the prlsoners had been moved. The '

, : : authorities told them that there was no cause for alarm. The

f following December the relatives received the clothing and other

belongings of the prisomners, together w1th notification that they

had been executed.
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(iii) On 23 August 1989, Major Latif Shoostari stated in Karachi,
Pakistan, that on 11 July 1989 15 prisoners of war freed by the
National Liberation Army of Iran had been executed in. Parandak
Barracks, near Tehran. He further stated that Homayoun Solatl,
Sharokh Shama and Mehdi Sabeti had been falsely accused of
drug-trafficking and executed in Tehran, the first on an unknown :
date, the second in April 1989 and the third on 18 July 1989.

(iv) Mr. Hamid Assadian supplied information, in a letter, about his
wife, Farzaneh Amou'i, a former student at the School of Agriculture
in Karaj. According to this .information, Mrs. Farzaneh Amou'i was
arrested in June 1981 without a specific charge and tortured until a
month prior to the birth of her daughter. 'After being released

.because of the imminent birth, she was rearrested in February 1982
and subjected to appalling sanitary conditions and given totally
-inadequate food. She then spent some time in the part of the prison
called "maskooni'", which means "residential unit", where she was .
subjected to so many different kinds of harassment that her mental
balance and physical condition were affected. She is still in
prison and is being held in extremely harsh conditions. Prison
governors have told her that her imprisonment is due solely to the
fact that she is Hamid Assadian's wife.

(v) Mr. Bahin Bahramian, a dentist, resident in the United States, said
in a letter that he had obtained a residence permit for his
75-year-old mother, but she had not been able to make the .journey -
because when she was about to board the aircraft at Mehr-Abad

..airport, her passport had been confiscated. At the time, she was .-

~-told -that the reason- for-the-confiscation was that-she was-a member- -
of the Baha'i faith. However, she stated and repeated that she is
not a member of that faith and is willing to prove it to the
authorities. - Thus far, efforts to enable her to leave the country
have proved fruitless. » o

(vi) Mr. Habib Abmadi, resident in the United States, sent the Special
Representative a letter, dated 8 December 1989, 'in which he informed
him that his sister Aceah had been arrested in 1981 and sentenced to
eight years' imprisonment. One day in the autumn of 1989, a member
of her family was asked by phone to report to the prison, where
officials handed over her clothing and other belongings, with this
warning: "You must not talk to anybody about this'" (Aceah's
execution)., They also said that if anyone found out what had
happened, he would be declared gullty and punlshed.

2. nf t' n m t Irani int ti r

36. On 11-August 1989, the international press reported that 20 persons had
been executed on' charges of drug-trafficking and that 1,300 persons had been
executed for that offence since January 1989. This figure has steadily
increased up to the time when this final report was completed. For example,
the international press reported the announcement by Iranian radio on

" 24 December 1989 that 17 members of a gang of drug-traffickers and
' Weapons—smugglers, including a woman, had just been executed in Tehran, Mashad
and Kerman.




Kurdish political groups, including members of the so-called Komala group, on
charges of consplracy to commit acts of terrorism and sabotage.

wannounced that two persons had each had a hand cut off.
hl The press publlshed statements attrlbuted to a senior member of the

-produced satisfactory results. The press also published statements attributed

‘that regard were the result of the manipulation of information by opposition

during the years prior to his execution.
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37. The Turkish press reported that 48 asylum-seekers had been handed over to
the Iranian authorities and executed in Orumiyeh in August 1989.

38. Other publications reported on 15 September 1989 that five political
prisoners named Mohammad Yoyunessi, Mohammad Gholi Ebrahimi, Bizhan Bigliari,
Bahram Kamezi and Massoud Sabet had been ‘executed for drug-trafficking in
Hamedan, Rasht, Kermanshah and Shiraz. The same source stated that those
persons had been among 79 persons executed on 19 August.

39. The press published statements by Mr. Davoud Karimi, a member of the
Islamic Revolution Committee, to the effect that 9,000 political opponents and
40,000 drug-traffickers and drug-addicts were in prison. In May 1989, the
newspaper Kayhan (an Engllsh language newspaper, published in Tehran) reported
that 200 members of the People's Fedayeen organization and the Tudeh Party had
been arrested. . The Iranian press also reported the detention of supporters of

40. On 31 July 1989, Kayhan reported that six women conv1cted of adultery and
1mmoral behaviour had been stoned to death in Bakhtaran. The newspaper
Jomhouri Iglami reported on 24 April- that members of a gang involved in
immoral acts and prostitution had been hanged or stoned in Bushehr. The
stonings were carried out in the sports stadium. Kayhan reported on

13 May 1989 that a woman had been stoned to death in Meishaboor stadium. On
13 January 1989, Kayhan reported that a man and a woman sentenced for adultery
had been stoned to death, in Karaj. Jomhouri Islami reported that a woman had
been stoned- to death in.-Zahan. On 20 February 1989, the official radio

o i a % - e e e e en e R

Judiciary to the effect that the summary executions of political opponents had

to another prominent person holding no official functions to the effect that
the summary executions were a mistake. Other official sources denied that
there had been many executions in Iran and stated that the accusations made in

groups.
3. Information from foreign organizations

42. The Secretary-General of the United Nations transmitted to the Special

Representative a copy of a letter from the Congressional Friends of Human

Rights Monitors, composed of 52 Senators and 143 members of the United States

Congress. The letter was signed by Senators Patrick Moynihan, )

David Durenberger and James Jeffords, and Representatives Tony Hall and

Constance Morella. The latter stated that Mohammed Hossein Akbarzadeh

Youssefi, a doctor by profession and held in high esteem in Tabriz for the

free assistance he had given to needy persons, had been arrested and executed

in October 1988, without trial and with no specific charge or legal _
assistance. Doctor Youssefi had been arrested and released a number of times
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43. The Indian Committee for the Defence of Human Rights, a specialized
branch of the National Federation of Indian Women, sent the Special

Representative a letter from New Delhi on 29 December 1989 expressing deep
‘concern at the possible execution of 18 women prisoners in Iran. The letter
" ‘stated that those women had been sentenced to death and placed in solitary

confinement. The reporting organization :did not furnish the names of the

" women under sentence of death.

4, Information provided by Iranian organizations

44. On 8 December 1989, Mr. Karenzadeh and Mr. Gadan Jalil, who stated that
they represented the Kurdistan‘DemocratiC‘Party, handed the Centre for Human
Rights a list of prisoners alleged to have been executed since 1988, a list of
civilians killed by members of militias and a list of Kurdish villages that
had been destroyed. The complainants further stated that 15 persons had been
arrested in November 1989 in Paveh and held in Kermanshah prison, and that
three of them had been executed because of their support -for Kurdish autonomy

"movements’

45, On 8 January 1990, Mr. Karimadeh Abdolrahman, spokesman for the Kurdistan
Democratic Party, handed the Special Representative a list of 95 persons .
alleged to have been executed in prisons in Kurdistan in 1988, and stated that
he was absolutely sure of the veracity of that information. He also gave the
names of 11 civilians, one of them a student and the remainder peasants, who
had been killed by members of the armed forces. Those lists repeated many of
the names given in the lists mentioned in the previous paragraph. He also
handed over a list of 136 Kurdish villages allggedly*destroyed since 1980. He
stated .that hundreds of Kurds had been executed since the 1988 cease-fire in

.. Kermanshah, -Saqqez,. Mahabad ‘and Orumiyeh. =7~ 7T S -

46. On 8 January 1990, the Special Representative received :
Mr. Mehdi Fatapour, a member of the Political Bureau of the People's Fedayeen
Organization. Mr. Fatapour stated that political prisoners continued to be
executed as drug traffickers and, in that connection, mentioned the case of
Dr. Mansour. At the beginning of the year three persons accused of being
homosexuals had been beheaded. He also submitted a list of 80 women who were

still being kept in prison, even though they had served their sentences.

‘47.' On 10 January 1990, the Special Representative received :

Mr. Madavi Hossein, Secretary-General of the People's Mojahedin Organizationm,
and Mr. Kasem Rajavi, representative of the National Council of the Resistance
in Switzerland, who gave him eight documents concerning the situation in
Iran. Their contents are described below: (a) list of political prisoners
executed as drug-traffickers; (b) political prisoners buried in secret common
graves; (c) names and addresses of 410 relatives of persons who had been
executed; (d) list of 643 prisons; (e) names and details of 4,725 political.
prisoners; (f) list of 1,786 persons accused of being torturerss; (g) copies of
official statements on human rights; and (h) copies of reports in.the - ... .
international press on human rights in Iran. They said that 250~ people had .
worked for two months on the preparation of the eight documents. "On R

17 January, Mr. Madavi Hossein and Mr. Kasem Rajavi submitted further
documents, together with letters and cases of persons whose fundamental rights
had been infringed. ' ~ e '
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48. On 15 January, the Special Representative was visited by two
representatives of the Independent Committee of Iranian Lawyers in Exile, who
spoke about the situation of lawyers. They stated that a number of lawyers
had been executed, and described: the events that had led to the dissolution of
the old Tehran Bar Association and the arrest of its President. They referred
to the executions of Massoudi Manouchehr, a 1ega1 adviser, and of Mr. Khaksar,
who had acted as defence counsel for a number of Mojahedin in revolutionary
tribunals. Lawyers who had tried to act as defence counsel ‘for political
offenders were persecuted and forced to hide or leave the country. In 1981
and 1982 a number of lawyers had still been able to act as defence counsel in
political trials, but their services had soon been dispensed with and since
then political tr1als had taken place without independent legal aid for the
defendants. - :

49, On 15 January, representatives of the Kurdistan Democratic Party, the
People's Democratic Party of Iran and the People's Fedayeen Organ1zat1on )
referred to the situation in Iranian gaols. They promlsed to send a list of
14,000 executed pol1t1ca1 prisoners, and provided the names and details of
many people still in prison. They also handed over a copy of the report of a

~migsion by the International Federation of Human Rights to Kurdistan, and a

list of villages which they said had been destroyed over a period of 10 years
by regular or irregular Iranian armed forces. In each v111age in Kurdistan
there were notices listing the names of inhabitants who had been executed, the
purpose of the notices was .to intimidate the population. '

5. Official information on terrorism

50. The Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran has submltted to the

“Spec1a1 Representatlve a- 58—page document contalnlng 170 excerpts from the

newspaper Mojahed, published by the People's Mojahedin Qrganization, dated ’
between 9 November 1983 and 21 January 1985. In these excerpts the
organization acknowledged that it had conducted propaganda campa1gns, and
engaged in military act1v1t1es and attacks against private individuals in
Tehran, Isfahan and other cities, agalnst private vehicles and against
premises where supporters of the régime. normally met. The document contains
the names of 38 victims of these acts (annex II). The section entitled "Brief
reports" contains information concerning attacks on alleged spies ‘and
torturers.

51. The Permanent Mission of the Islamic Republlc of Iran to the

United Nations Office at Geneva has sent the Special Representatlve a number
of leaflets relating to terrorist attacks attributed to that organization.
The leaflet entitled "Reality" describes eight attacks for. Whlch

‘responsibility was claimed by the organization. The purpose of this leaflet

is to demonstrate that the victims were not spies, mercenarles or torturers,
but peaceable prlvate individuals who were simply supporters of the reglme
The leaflet entitled '"Political activities ...' reproduces the statements of
former activists who claimed respons1b111ty'for armed actions, some of whlch
were suicidal in nature, against revolutionary guards and against the Pars
News Agency.

52. The publication entitled '"Observations on the trend in blind terrorism in
Iran'" recapitulates incidents for which responsibility was claimed by the
above-mentioned organization. ''Documentary proof of terrorism" reproduces
pages of publications by the People's Mojahedin which acknowledged
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"responsibility for attacks agalnst military and civilian targets. A further

three publlcat1ons contained reports on incidents, names, dates and results of
actions against public transport and public bulldlngs, and against persons
holdlng public office and private citizens without official responsibility.

6. ituati f*;h Baha'i

53. The Special Representative has been informed of the situation of the -
Baha'i as follows: The improvement in the situation of members of the Baha'i
faith continued between October 1989 and January 1990. Since two Baha' is were
executed “in December 1988, there has been no report of any further
executions. "In May 1989, 14 Baha'is were in _prison and since then 9 have been
arrested and 10 released"the number of prlsoners at the end of 1989 was’
accord1ngly 13. '

54. Most Baha'is continue to be deprived of their pensions, but those who
retired before the Revolution and are over 60 years of age will be able to

" draw their pensions if they paid their social-sécurity contributions for.

10 years; if they have not paid the full contributions for the 10-year period,
they will be able to make up the balance and receive benefits. But those who
have retired or ‘lost their jobs during the past 10 years will not be able to
receive their pensions.

55. Since November 1989, a number of commercial licences have been renewed,

and shops managed or owned by Baha'is have reopened. The Ministry of Commerce

has authorized the reopening of a number of shops in Abadih and Burujan, but
they are still closed because of threats by extremist elements. It should
also be noted that the Baha'is are able towohtaln rat1on cards, wh1ch had been

withheld from them for a. long time.. .. T D

56. The Baha'is are still experiencing problems in connection with the right
of inheritance. They are being refused inheritance certificates which,"under
Iranian law, are necessary in order to obtain possession of the assets of the
person concerned. Consequently, they are unable to legalize possession of -
inherited assets. The situation of the confiscated farms remains uncertain,
but they have been allowed to bring legal proceedings in a number of’coﬁrts;'

57. In addition, they are being refused passports and consequently are -
compelled to remain in Iran even though they would like to travel abroad to :
join their families or receive medical treatment.

58. Since 1988, the Baha'is have been admitted to primary and secondary
schools, without exception, but they are systematlcally being refused
admission to universities. '

59. The Baha'is are unable to meet as members of their faith. They are not®
allowed to use the premises to which they formerly had access in order to -

practise their faith and are not allowed to enter all offlces owned by them.f‘

60. As part of the 1mprovement in their situatiom, it should be noted that,V
as stated in the interim report, they are now allowed to bury their dead in °
their own cemeteries. Nevertheless, they are experiencing difficulties in
this connection at Qazvin, Hamadan, Rasht, Chalus, Nawshahr, Babulsar, Babul
and Sari.
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61. The Special Representative has received photocoples of official documents
containing decisions by the competent authorities in cases relating to
Baha'is. These documents are listed below:

(a) Not1f1cat10n dated 12 March 1989 by the Islamlc Revolutlon Court of
Gunabad to a Baha'i of the verdict handed down in his absence, by which he was
sentenced to one year's imprisonment. for ‘meémbership in the Baha'i
organizationj

(b) Letter from the Executive Comm1ttee for Investlgatlon, Minlstry of

' Culture, stating that a student who had been prevented from continuing h1s fﬁ

studies because of hlS relationship w1th the Bahd'i sect could send a
declaration renounc1ng his aff111at10n with that sect, in order that it mlght
be widely published and subsequently 1nvest1gated and submitted for a |
decision; failing submission of such a declaration, he would be treated in

‘accordance with the data in the registers concernlng him;

3y
!

(c) Letter from the Department of Commerce, dated 17 Apr11 1987

H1nform1ng an applicant that his turn for the 1nsta11at10n of a telephoneAhad

come, but, because he was a member of the Baha 1 falth, 1t would not be L
installed; and

ER R

(d) Note from the Ministry of Justice stating that certification of the
status .of heirs is granted only to persons who .are members of the. four .
officially recognlzed rellglons and that the heirs of Baha is re not ent1t1ed

62. Informatlon recelved more recently 1nd1cated that ‘three prlsoners had

‘been. released in. KaraJ,'one in Isfalan and one in~ Khuy, with the*result thatb T

the number of imprisoned Baha'is has declined to elght ""In Abadih, “the
Baha'is received from the Government 40,000 square metres of 1and for use as a
cemetery, and the. first ‘bodies. have been burled on that site. The 31tuat10n
in Marvast has returned to ‘normal .since 16 workers have recovered their e
jobs, 5 have obtained a work permit and all the shops ‘have reopened after
being closed for six years. In Tabrlz, all Baha'i shopkeepers and workers -
have obtained the necessary permlts. The judicial authorities in Qazv1n have
ordered land to be returned to the Baha'is. In Bandar Turkamen, arrangements
have been made to reconnect all telephones belonglng to Baha'is. In Hamadan,
the local authorities have allowed four girls who had been expelled from art
school to resume their studies. And the Baha'is who had been banished to
Jahrum have received permission to return to Kiram, their normal place of
residence. '

7. 1>m n measur

63. ‘The Spec1a1 Representatlve received reports of clemency measures ordered
by the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran after the interim report had
been completed, but informed the Third Committee of the General Assembly of
those measures in his oral statement on 20 November 1989. It is to be hoped
that the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran will order further
clemency measures benefltlng polltlcal prisoners and ordlnary prisoners,
including drug traffickers who show signs of reform. The Spec1al
Representative has expressed great satisfaction at this humanitarian pOllCY,
which first manifested itself in the amnesty of early 1988 benefiting about

2,500 detainees. The policy has recently continued with pardons and the

commutlng of sentences.
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64. In this connection, it should be mentioned that, on 18 October 1989; the
Permanent Representative of the Islamic Republic of Iran to the Unlted Nations
addressed a letter to the Secretary-General of the United Nations which was
circulated as an official document of the General Assembly (A/C.3/44/S)
stating that the Government had issued a decree granting pardons to, or
considerably reducing the sentences of, persons who had been convicted of a
number of offences. That decree did not concern persons sentenced for drug
trafficking or rape. ’ :

65. In addition, the Special Representative received from the Permanent
Mission of the Islamic Republic of Iran to the United Nations a document
stating that 572 prisoners at Karadj, Qom -and Zahedan had had their sentences
commuted. According to the Permanent Mission, this figure was indicative of
the large number of prisoners who had been granted a pardon or had their - -
sentences commuted in many other Iranian c1t1es, however; overall figures were
not ‘yet avallable.

;66. The Permanent Missionvfurther stated that all persons sentenced to one '

year's imprisonment were ammestied. Prisoners sentenced to terms of 5, 10 or
15 years had their sentences reduced by one third, one fourth and one fifth,
respectively. Sentences of over 15 years were reduced to 10 years, and 11fe
imprisonment was commuted to 15 years' imprisonment. .- .:: :

III. CONSIDERATION -OF OPINIONS OF THE IRANIAN GOVERNMENT

67. Between" the date of renewal of the mandate in March 1989 and completlon
of the interim report in October 1989, the Iranian Government -expressed
important opinions on the enjoyment of human rights and compliance with the

international human. r1ghts,prov131ons in force.  The compléte téxts of the -3 = 7 77

relevant statements were included in the interim report (A/44/620,
paras. :8-14) and the Special Representative's comments will thus refer to that
report, without reproduc1ng the texts in full. : '

68. The Iranian note of 26 June 1989 (A/44/620, para. 8) referred f1rst to
the Special Representative's visit, a matter which was concluded through
resolution 44/163 adopted by consensus by the General Assembly at its
forty-fourth session. Other matters about which differences of view have
emerged between the Government and the Spec1a1 Representatlve are commented on
below. .

69. In the above-mentioned note, it was stated: "Def1n1te1y, the Islamlc
Republic of Iran . cannot, and will not, hold itself committed to answering
allegations orginating from certain terrorist groups. and war-time traitors."
It added that it would be able to answer "After the terrorists have been' :
excluded as the source of information from the fact- -finding and L
1nformat10n—gather1ng system of the Commission on Human Rights." Expres51ng
its desire to co-operate with the Special Representative, the Goverrnment °°
stated that 140 of the names listed as executed political activists in an _
annex to the final 1988 report were flctltlous since they did not appear in
any official register. : '

70.. The Special Representative wishes to point out that the Iranian
Government has on a number of occasions promised to reply in detail to ‘all the
allegations communicated to it during the years of his mandate, since 1984,

and announced that the replies were under preparation. In the Commission on
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: Human Rights, the most recent promise to this effect was made on 6 March 1989, §
when the representative of Iran stated: "The written response of my ' !

i Government to the annex of the report E/CN.4/1989/26 is under way and as of
this moment I can give you, Mr. Chairman and the distinguished audience, just
a brief report on that.'" He then referred to the 140 names that did not
appear in any official register.

71. In previous reports, the Special Representative examined arguments
gsimilar to that contained in the note of 26 June and made it clear that a
distinction must be drawn between organizations that promote -the submission of
written reports and testimony, and persons who state that their,fundamental -
rights have been infringed. . Moreover no allegation can: or should be excluded
prima facie .without. consideration and examination. ‘The main point is that-the
investigation relates to the rights of individuals; individuals are personally
%; .responsible for their words and deeds; they may or . may not belong to the

5 organization that takes it upon itself to publicize their testimony.. The
allegations relate to supposed infringements of the rights of private
individuals, and the .organizations which operate in-some cases -.and not
constantly and systematically - as vehicles. for the submission of data are
extluded from the relevant procedure. It should further be recalled that the
sources of information wary.and no organ1zat10n has a. monopoly on the
transmission of information. .- : - »

72. It is regrettable that the Iranian -Government -should have expressed
reservations concerning the answers required in order to continue the

investigation with full :knowledge of the facts. -However, it is to be hoped ;
: that it will return;to the previous position and fulfil its promises, since i
oo the answers form an integral and essential part of the full co-operation that b
was embodled in the consensus. resolut;on,adopted by the ‘General Assembly “j”HAH‘”’”

E i 73. The Iranlan note went on to refer to .the recommendatlon relatlng to

P conformity of the prison system with 1nternat10na1 standards and to the.

J .ﬁ} . inadmissibility of subjecting detainees to unjustified or unnecessary

vl harshness. The Iranian Government stated that it feels morally obliged to.

il observe humanitarian considerations vis-a-vis prisoners and to avoid ill

treatment, and that-to this end it has made substantial efforts to ensure .the

rehabilitation of detainees and the development of their personality. This:

.is, precisely, the standard of treatment of prisoners that .is set in ‘the - .

. various international instruments and whose correct implementation the

A Commission on Human Rights and the General Assembly wish to verify. On this

" basis of agreement, the competent organs of the United Nations have been

‘requesting the Government of Iran to take into account the reports on torture

- and ill-treatment that have been transmitted to it, and to use them to o

- supervise the correct functioning of the prison system, and consequently -for"

| f; investigation of the conduct of subordinates and to ascertain respons1b111t1es
: as may be appropriate, and to take such compensatory action as may be due to

persons who have suffered injury in breach of prison policy..

74, In the same note, the Government of Iran categorically denied that

o prisoners were tortured. It stated that they were treated in conformity with

Pk the Ta'zirat and the standards of Islamic law which have been the subject of

e consensus and implemented in other Islamic countries._ These punishments must
; be assessed in conformity with internmational law, since the criteria demanded

by the international community are in some cases at variance with very strict
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1nterpretat10ns of Islamic law, and international obligations are discharged
only through compliance with the standards which the international community
has established with the consent of all States Members of the United Nationms.

75. Certainly, some senior members of the Iranian Government have, albeit
occasionally, stated that their country comp11es with Islamic law and that
they do not consider themselves obliged to try to conform to 1nternational
law. On 20 October 1989, a senior. official, speaking on Radio Tehran, '
stated: "Every day, the human r1ghts organizations and assoclatlons accuse
Iran of human rights v;olat1ons_on the basis of unfounded charges;. ‘they must
understand that we follow Islamic law.'  On this p01nt there is a fundamental
divergence because the 1nternat10na1 system for the protectlon of human r1ghts
does not permit any exceptlon based on internal legal systems it is for each
State to conform to 1nternat10na1 law. Neither the Constitution nor natlonal'
law in general may constitute a valid exception or grounds for exemptlon from )
enforcement of international law. For a long time now, it has been well '
established in intermational theory and practlce that the law of a particular

~country cannot function as a ground for excu81ng ‘or justifying failure to

enforce international law.

76. In Iran, very different views about human rights and the administration .
of justice have been expressed, and indeed by promlnent persons competent 1n'_
Islamlc law. On 13 February 1989, for example, the London newspaper_Ihe '

 Independent published statements made by a promlnent Iranian in an open

letter: "It appears that in most cases those executed had been serving short
prison sentences for. minor p011t1ca1 offences.".__,~ He declared his opp051t10n to
such sentences and said he was sure that many persons in Iran shared his
v1ew. In the same letter he pointed ‘out that, under Islamic ‘law, the families

of victims could. acéept financial compeénsation -instead of the death séntence T

for a person convicted of homicide. ‘In this connection, he asked the ,
following question: "If these executions have been carried out in the name of
observing the retribution law, then where are the members of the families of )
those victims in whose name an act of revenge has been authorlzed?" '

77. With regard to the imposition of the death penalty, the above—mentloned
note states that the penal system in force places a very hlgh value on human?T
life and that the unjustified death of a 51ngle person is considered as "
tantamount to a cataclysm.- The death penalty is 1mposed within the context of_
divine law, “and in order to 11m1t its 1mplementat1on rest1tut10n (Diveh) may
be paid and an oath (Ghesameh) may be sworn. The note did not refer to the ”f
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, which imposes
limitations on the power of each State to apply the death penalty. In the
various reports prepared to date, reasons have been given as to’ why the
imposition of the death penalty in the Islamic Republlc of Iran 1s not in"
conformity with the relevant 1nternat10nal prov151ons. '

78. The note of 26 June included a statement of a doctrinal character

- concerning the method of enforcing the international obligations of States.

The note stated: '"Since the judicial system in each State is enforced
independently, the Islamic Republic of Iran ... does not hold itself obliged
to answer questions which directly violate this axiom." 1In its view, the
division and independence of the highest organs of the State, in this case the
Judiciary, create an exemption from the international obligation to report on
alleged irregularities in the administration of justice. This question has
been debated and resolved both by outstanding experts and by international
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courts, and the solution, which has entered customary international law,
embodies the rule which stipulates that the division and independence of the
highest organs of States, including the Judiciary, do not give rise to
exemption or exception with regard to compliance with the State's
international obligations. Consequently, international law considers the
State as a unit, and not as an entity divided into several parts, of which
only the Executive would be answerable at the intermational level. If a State
has problems deriving from its Comstitution, the division of powers or the .
federal form of government, those are internal problems which it must resolve
internally, but before the intérnational community its obligations are
evaluated in the light of international standards by which the State is _
conceived as the sole and indivisible subject of rights and obligations. - Only
by considering the State as an indivisible unit responsible for compliance
with international obligations can 1nternat10na1 relations be placed on a sure
footing.

IV. VISIT TO THE ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF “IRAN -
A. Int ti

79. The visit to the Islamic Republic of Iran took place from 21

to 28 January 1990. Mr. Georg Mautner-Markhof, Chief of the Special
Procedures Section, represented the Centre for Human ‘Rights.

Mrs. Leonor Sampaio, a human rights official, and Miss Carmen Cuevas;:
secretary, also took part in the mission. 'Mrs. Irene Abrahamian, an
interpreter speclallzlng in Farsi, helped the m1551on durlng ‘all’ of the
prlvate and some of the off1c1a1 meetlngs._ o

--80.: When- the news of - thewv1sxt t0 - the- Islamlc Repubiic of - Iran was made - - o

public, the Spec1a1 Representatlve began to recelve extensive correspondence
containing v1ews, suggestlons and requests on how the visit should be
conducted. ~The correspondence came from Iranian exiles and expatriates, as
well as from persons of other nationalities, human rights ‘associations and
four winners of the Nobel Prize for Science. Letters signed by 329 university
professors and by academic and student associations were also received. In
addition, 833 parllamentarlans from Australla, Austrla, Belgium, Canada, the
Federal Republlc of Germany, France, Italy, L1echtenstein, Luxembourg, the
Netherlands, Norway, San Mar1no, Sweden, Sw1tzer1and, the United Klngdom and
the United States, as well as members of the European Parliament and the *
Council of Europe, stated their views on the human rights 51tuat10n in the
Islamic Republic of Iran.

8l. The Special Representative is grateful for the co-operation of all these
persons, recognizes that their views and suggestlons were of great value
during the preparations for the visit and is encouraged by the fact that
international public opinion, which is so important for the implementation of
human rights. throughout the world, is providing such strong support for the
international system for the protection of human rights. :

82. A request supported by prominent persons from many countries was that one
or more members of the People's Mojahedin should take part in the mission.
From the very outset, the Special Representative stated that he could not and
should not include any person who was not a member of the staff of the
Unlted Nations Secretariat in general and of the Centre for Human nghts in

P
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particular because that would Jeopardlze the objectivity of the mission and be
totally out of keeping with well-established United Nations precedents. The
Special Rapporteur gave the same answer to all persons and institutions which
made the request, even shortly before the mission left for Tehran.

83. .The visit was announced in advance in the Iranian media and the persons
concerned were informed of the place where interviews would be held and of a
telephone number they could call to make-appointments. During the first few
1 days, the interviews took place at the Unlted Nations Programme for

4 Development's office. Later, when groups of 100 or 200 persons blocked the

1 entrance to the United Nations Development Programme's office and witnesses
with appointments could not appear, interviews were held in the Hotel Azadi,
where the, members of the mission were staylng At the hotel, many 1nd1v1dua1
testimonies were heard and two collect1ve 1nterv1ews were held, one with
100 persons and the other with about 50.

84 Groups of persons also gathered in front of the Hotel Azad1 and asked to.
be heard. It was proposed that they. should appo1nt representatlves, but, at
first, they did not agree to do so; a collective interview could not be
organized because they all wanted to be heard individually and in private, but
that was physically 1mposs1ble because time was so short. . On Friday,
26 January, most of those persons came into the lobby of" the hotel and pushed
and shoved the five members of the mission; some of them went upstalrs, but
not to the floor where the members of the mission had their rooms. The .
onfu51on lasted about three hours. It was Frlday, the day of collectlve_;ﬁ ’
prayers, and it was therefore not p0851b1e to make contact with senior ==
officials of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs as rapidly as would have been
desirable. When the Ministry was informed of what was happen1ng, the

“and 1eave the hotel w1thout h1ndrance.

85. The Spec1a1 Representatlve w1shes to place on record his partlcularbﬁfu
appreciation for the full, effective and constant co—operatlon which he
received from Mr. Per Janvlt, Resident Representative of the United Nations
Development Programme in the Islamic Republic of Iran, and which went far _
beyond what he could have hoped for or expected.v

86. The Special Representative took the initiative of requestlng interviews.
with dignitaries who could give him information on human rights in the
country. Mr. Mehdi Bazargan, Prime Minister of the first Government of the . .
Revolution, accepted and the Special Representatlve visited him at his home.
Ayatollah Montazeri, who lives in Qom, declined to be interviewed because he,
had other commitments. The Special Representative was prepared to travel to
Qom. It had repeatedly been stated that Ayatollah Montazeri was under houser
arrest, but, through political opposition sources, it was possible to )
establish, that he is free and devoting hlmself to teaching..

87. The length of the visit was determined on the basis of United Nations
Precedents and, in particular, the programme of work of the Commission on
Human Rights. Since the Commission began its work on 29 January, the report
‘had to be ready a few days before the agenda item on the Islamic Republic of
Iran was to be discussed. The drafting of the report and its translation into
the working languages take several days. If the visit had been longer, the ’
Commission would not have been able to consider this question at its

- forty-sixth session. In preparing its programme of work, the Commission

””fauthor1L1es “proceeded to re—establlsh order~and the m1851on was- able to center - -
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decided that the consideration of agenda item 12, which includes the ques?iop
of the Islamic Republic of Iran, would begin on 19 February; and the Special
Representative is to present the oral introduction to his report on thaF day,
assuming, of course, that the report has been completed and translated into
the working languages. There were thus only 20 days in which to complete all
that work. The visit must be seen in a broadervqontext because it does not in
itself put an end to United Nations activities with regard to this case. This
visit, which is the first, should be followed by a second visit.

88. The Special Represéntative ackﬁowledges, commends and is grateful fof the
assistance he received from the Chief-of the Special Procedures Section of the

Centre for Human Rights, Mr. Georg Mautner-Markhof, who accompanied him to all
the official visits, made timely and relevant suggestions and supervised the -
work of the other staff members. The Special Representative also '
acknowledges, commends and is grateful for the intensive activity and
efficiency of the other United Natioms staff members who accompanied him on
‘the mission and who showed unlimited dedication and goodwill during the
15-hour working days the visit required. ’ o - .

B. Interviews with tgpggggﬁtgtivgs of the executive,
7303 nches of | -

iglativ f Government

89. In the morning of the day he arrived in Tehran, the Speéial »
Representative began the set of visits with senior officials of the Iranian
Government. The visits were scheduled, és requestea'earlier} for the mornings
and the hearing of testimony and other activitiés ‘took place in the afternmoons.

e 1..ng R _, e

90. In the morning of 21 January, a meeting ‘was held to revise the schedule

of work for the official contacts. The Deputy Minister for International
Affairs, Mr. Manouchehr Mottaki, accompanied by Ambassador Tabatabai,
Ambassador Nabi and Counsellor Alai, expressed the satisfaction of the
Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran at the visit of the Special

Representative and the officials frpm“the Centre for Human Rights and stressed -
that his Government intended to extend its full and effective co-operation.

‘91. After agreeing on the programme for the official pafﬁ'of'the visit, .
subject, of course, to changes which might be necessary in the Iight of
circumstances, Mr. Mottaki referred to the international problems which the

_ Iranian Revolution had faced since its inception and described some of the -

causes of the difficulties the Islamic Republic of Iran had had to deal with
at the international level. He indicated that terrorism had begun one month

after the Revolutionary Government had come to power and that the President of

the Republic, the Prime Minister, the President of the Supreme Court, the
Attorney-General, the Ministers of Roads and Transport, Telecommunications and
Energy and more than 30 members of Parliament had died in a horrible terrorist
attack. The Special Representative said that all the information on terrorism
which he has received from the Government has been duly reflected in his
reports. i ’

92. Three important matters were discussed: detailed replies to the cases
which the Special Representative has submitted and will continue to submit to
the Government; the place of the Islamic Republic ‘of Iran in the international
community; and Islamic values. The Deputy Minister said that replies will be
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given in respect of all the cases whlch have been or will be submltted. All
the cases which have been reported since the conclusion of the 1989 interim
report, as well as those reported during this visit, have been or will be
transmltted to the Government so that it may provide detailed replies.

93. The Deputy Minister said that the Government of the Islamic Republic of
Iran intended to take its rightful place in the international community. In
this connection, the Special Representative drew attention to the importance
of the invitation extended to the Special Representative of the Commission on
Human Rights, of the clemency measures adopted and of a solution to problems
relating to the implementation of human rights in accordance with
international 1nstruments. )

94, The Deputy Minister then referred to Islamlc values and their rellglous
meaning and slgn1f1cance for the society and Government of an Islam1c

‘country. The Special Representative said that he fully respected Islamic -

values and considered that they were closely related to Christian values and

- international human rights 1nstruments, although, in the light of

developments, some adJustments might be necessary in order to br1ng them fully
into line with international standards, s1nce practice and 1nterpretat10ns
sometimes give rise to- inconsistencies. He also said that, in his opinion,
such adjustments ‘could be made without much effort in many cases, “while, in
other cases, further analyticial refinements would be necessary. The '
harmonization of the Iranian legal and adm1n1strat10n system with
1nternatlonal ‘standards is poss1ble and it could be the subject of a detalled
study to 1dent1fy sens1t1ve 1ssues and find approprlate solut1ons.

2. Interviews with thg Prgsident of the Supreme Court of Justice ~
- - Y t : - -«f . - e o , -V .vi-v.r P,

the Deputy

95. 1In the mornlng of 22 January, the Speclal Representat1ve v1s1ted the
President of the Supreme Court of Justlce, Ayatollah Moghtadaei, who described
the structure of the judiciary and the general way in which it operates and
answered the Spec1a1 Representative's questlons.

96. Ayatollah Moghtadaei began his statement by recalling that the Islam1c
Republic of Iran was very young and had been subjected to great pressure and
adverse propaganda abroad. Despite such pressure and the elght—year war which
had been imposed on it, it had been able to develop and consolidate its
institutions. The judiciary is composed of five types of courts: (i) civil
courts, one for important cases and one for less important cases; '
(ii) criminal courts, one for more serious offences and one for lesser
offences; (iii) a civil court for individual matters (marriage, divorce, .
inheritance, etc.) and matters relatlng to religious minoritiesy (1v) military
courts; and (v) revolutionary courts which try offences against the security
of the State and offences 1nvolv1ng terrorism, drug trafficking and the black
market.

97. The Supreme Court is composed of 34 branches or d1v1s1ons located in
Tehran. Some of its members have more than 30 years of experlence on the
bench. The right of appeal is recognized and no exception is made in cases
under the jurisdiction of the revolutionary courts. A lower court of first
instance discusses its judgement with the competent division of the Supreme.
Court, although, once the judgement has been handed down, the accused or the
defendant, as the case may be, may appeal to the Supreme Court. When there is

B i T U
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a difference of opinion between the lower court and the higher division, the
lower court is not under any obligation to follow the opinion of the division
and, if the difference of opinion continues, the case may be brought before
another lower court. These procedures are applicable to any judgement’ and
there is no exception in any case. More than one appeal may be lodged,
provided that each one is based on’different gnqunds; In addition, ;he
Supreme Court is empovwered to review all cases and, for this purpose, its
President has three lawyers who assist him in considering court ‘proceedings

with a view to deciding which ones should be reviewed. The review procedure

applies to judgements of the revolutionary courts.

98. With regard to the right to be defended by a lawyer, the President stated
that, under the Constitution, all accused persons without exception are

entitled to the assistance of a defence counsel who is authorized to exercise
the legal professionj such counsel is provided by the State when an accused

person cannot afford to pay him. With regard to the criticism by the Special
Representative that some proceedings in which the death penalty is applied are

far too speedy and do not allow time to ensure the guarantees of due process

of law provided for in the Inéernational'Covenant'on_Civil and Political
Rights, the President said that proceedings may be speeded up in the case of
offences against public decency, but, even then, the right of defence, the
right of appeal and the other guarantees of due process of law are ’

safeguarded. The Supreme Court,giveS‘priorityvtdisuch cases and may handiﬁown
a ruling within two days. The judges are aWare:bfithevimpottAncefbf A
guarantees of due process of law and consider that failure ‘to ensure that they

are safeguarded is not only contrary to the law, but also a sin according to

. the Islamic religion. They are guided by the principle that it is better to

99, The President stated: "We do not claim that all our judges are
perfect". He also said that a procedure had been introduced to monitor the
conduct of judges and, when they do something wrong, they are liable ‘to
disciplinary measures and, in some cases, to punishment. The President agreed
to the Special Representative's request for detailed information on two
specific cases of punitive measures against judges who had failed in their
duty. £ ‘ e ek * ¢ T
100. The President said that no one was imprisoned for .his political ideas and
that all detainees were being tried or had been sentenced. The Baha'i lead
normal lives and those who are in prison have committed some offence. '"No one
is in prison in the Islamic Republic of Iran simply because he is a Baha'i".

101. The President said that, during the first.few years of the Revolutionm,
some abuses were committed, as happens during all revolutions, but, at
present, institutions, including the judiciary, are functioning normally and
studies are being carried out to remedy shortcomings and errors in the
enforcement of the law. ' o

102. The conversation continued with Dr. Mehrpoor, Deputy to the Head of the
judiciary, Ayatollah Yazdi. After expressing some general views on the
publicity campaign being waged abroad against the Government of the Islamic
Republic of Iran, Dr. Mehrpoor indicated that the experts in charge of
legislative reform have taken account of the legal opinions which the Special
Representative has stated in his reports. One case relates to criticism that
account was not being taken of the amount of time the accused had spent in

g
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prison before being sentenced and that the relevant legislative reform shou%d

include the rule that the amount of time .a person spent in pre-trial detenFlon

after his arrest counted as part of his sentence, if the sentence was a prison

term. The experts are also studying other recommendations by the -

Special Rapporteur to determine whether it is possible to incorporate them in
. Iranian legislation. - ‘

103. Dr. Mehrpoor emphasized in this cohnection’that the country's legal
system was based on Islamic values, a fact which was fully supported by the

"; - Iranian people.. .Certain rules which were clearly stipulated in the Holy Koran

could therefore not be altered. On the .other hand, questions.such as the high
degree of discretion given to judges in.the present system were currently

4 ~being discussed.: .. . : » - ;

104. The Special Representative referred to.the death penalty and to the

« srestrictions  and conditions provided for in the International Covenant on
{Civil and Political.Rights .and again stated the opinions he expressed and the
‘recommendations he made in his reports. Referring to guarantees of due N
process of law, Dr. Mehrpoor agreed that they must be granted to all accused
persons, including political offenders, terrorists ;and drug traffickers. He

| said that,.in the case. of the first offence, the death penalty was not applied
= ..to drug traffickers. The Special Representative asked for a copy.of.the.

4 relevant act and the regulations giving effect to it, which he received the
.. following day.. . . . .

105. In‘feply to_éﬁrequest for information, Df.iMehrpoor said. that thefé_afe
three bar associations in the Islamic Republic of Iran, one in Tehran, one in

‘~~wr«»~normal&ywawThe'interviewfendedewiﬁhkanpremisewﬁ£~co—operationfinwshedqing ,
light on any matters which were not clear, about which there were doubts or on
which contradictory information had been provided.

3. - Plepary session of the Supreme Court of Justice

106. The President of the Supreme Court of Justice, ‘Ayatollah Moghtadaei, -
invited the Special Representative and the Head of .the Special. Procedures,
Section of the Centre for Human Rights to be present during the discussion and
-« the ruling in the .case being reviewed in accordance with . the programme of . .
- work, The Supreme Court meets in plenary session one day a’ﬁeek, usually on
Wednesdays, and discusses and rules on two or three cases. On : ,
23 January 1990, the Court ruled on a case which, under Iranian law, is a
. private law matter, namely, fraud resulting from a cheque issued without '
~sufficient funds. As the case involved civil and criminal elements, the ..
judges of the divisions which hear civil and criminal cases:wére present.

107. The rulings by the court of first instance and the:appeais divisionfwere
not exactly the same and efforts were being made to find the right decision on
the basis of the opinions in favour and against the judgement under review.

others were based on. commercial law and arguments such as res_judicata, the
absence of deceit in issuing the cheque and references to the relevant
articles of the Commercial Code and the difference between a cheque for
immediate payment and a cheque for deferred payment.

No fewer than 12 opinions were heard; some stressed Islamic principles, while
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108. After the President of the Supreme Court expressed his view, the
discussion was closed and a vote was taken. Thirteen judges, including the
President, were in favour of upholding the judgement under review, but the
majority was not and the judgement was therefore overruled. Decisions taken

therefore constitute jurisprudence on which decisions in later cases are based.

4. Interview with the Minister of Justige - 3

109. The visit to the Minister of Justice, Hojjatoiislam Shoostari, took place
on the same day; he described his Ministry's functions as having one general
purpose, namely, to protect public rights and public order:  In reply to a:
question put by the Special Representative, the Minister said that: all death
sentences, including those handed down against drug traffickers and
'terrorists, have to be upheld by the competent division of ‘the Supreme Court,
even when the person concerned does not exercise his.right of appeal. 'No one
is tried for his religion or his political opinions; only persons who commit
offences against the law are brought to trial". Co Pl S

110. The Minister said that the philosophy on which the . Iranian system of
justice is based is not vengeance,-but the punishment' of the offender. “In®
practice and as'a result of the clemency measures that are:frequently. adopted,
no one serves the entire sentence handed down against him. . “Most convicted:
persons have their sentence reduced and many do not serve more than one third
of the sentence they received. Clemency measures are usually decreed at the ‘
time of New Years, on the anniversary of the Revolution and on the occasion of |
other religious holidays. ot

111. The Minister then reported that, duting the Revolutionary Government's
ten years in power, fewer~persons have beeén executed than in the same amount
of time under. the previous régime. He complained ‘that the’'Special - = “u»
Representative's reports contain enormous figures on persons who have been
executed and on political prisoners, stating that, in his view, the
information comes from enemies of the Revolution operating abroad. '"These
figures are wrong and they’'are a manipulation for propaganda purposes'. “The
Special Representative said that his reports contain figures communicated to
him not by one source, but by many sources, and that the official figures were |
not included because he had not received them; he also took: the opportunity to ;
draw attention once again.to the fact that_it'is;importént'for the Government -

to reply in detail to all ‘the allegations communicated to it. = SR S

112. The draft Penal Code is being considered by the Parliament. The Code now #
in force was adopted for a trial period of five.years and the new Code is to (%
replace it. The Minister said that there were not many differences between
the Code in force and the new one, but the Parliament might include further
changes in the new Code. - R ‘ -

113. When asked th passports were denied and so many complaints were made as
a result, the Minister said that the issue -of a passport was invariably’
prohibited because certain violations had been committed, but persons who had

no trouble with the system of justice received theéir passports.

114. The Minister referred to the treatment of priécners of war, which he
described as absolutely proper. : '
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115. The Special Representative indicated that, in his view, acceptance of-
regular visits by the Internat10nal Committee of the Red Cross to prisoners in
jails, including political prisoners and drug traffickers, would go a long way
towards sheddlng light on questions relating to the prison system. The
Minister did not spec1f1ca11y mention the suggestion that.the Red Cross should
have a broader role in the Islamic Republlc of Iran, but concluded the
conversation with a promise of. full co—operat1on with the Commission on Human
Rights and its Spec1a1 Representat1ve, stating that he hoped the Comm1s31on
would treat all similar cases in the same way..

5., Bublic trial of five persons accused of murder

116. As he had requested, the Spec1a1 Representat1ve attended a se831on‘of the
criminal court trying a case in which the death penalty was appllcable. The

victim's husband, two of ‘his brothers and one of his cousins were accused of -

murder. The corpse had not been found, although other evidence 1nd1cated that

_the murder had actually taken place and the victim had not merely

disappeared. . The trial was heard by Judge Alisheari, a judge with 10 years'
court experience. The Special Representatlve attended the second hearing. and
the trial was expected to 1ast for several days more.

-

117. Under Iranlan law, murder is a pr1vate law matter and opposes thebac used
and the victim's famlly. The charges may be dropped 1f f1nanc1a1 compensatlon
is agreed on or if a pardon is granted for some other reason. 1In this case,

- the murdered woman's sister offered. pardon provided that the whereabouts of

the corpse were made known., Both .the .accused and the famlly put the1r .
arguments to the Judge to. try ‘to _convince h1m to pass .sentence in accordance

with their . .allegations.. The Publ1c Prosecutor s Department does. not take part«_
~in-the -trial, -but- the 1nvestlgat10n 1swthe respon31b111ty of the pollce and of-

the office of the Prosecutor.

118. The father and a sister of .the victim made impassioned allegations -
against the accused.v The pr1nc1pa1 accused, the victim's husband, also took
the floor to defend himself and again stated that he was 1nnocent.‘ The lawyer
for 'the accused then made his plea. The Spec1a1 Representative does not know
what verdict was handed down, as the hearlng in ‘question was only one of
several in the case.

6. I iew with the Minister of the Interior

119. The Minlster of the Interlor, HOJJatollslam Noor1, recelved the Special
Representative on 24 January 1990. The Minister referred to the successive .
aggressions directed against the Islamic Republic of Iran during its 10 years
of existence. He said that, as soon as the revolutlonary Government had taken
power, it had held out a friendly hand to all nations and, in partlcular, to
its neighbours, but its gesture had not met with any response. As a result of
outside interference or assistance, a rebellion had broken out in- Kurdlstan.
and, in one of the nany terrorist attacks that had occurred, the highest .
Government officials had been killed by an extremely powerful bomb. . Those
events had been followed by the foreign war lasting more than eight years and
finally by the armed invasion in July 1988. In order to conceal the defeat of
the invaders, a campaign had been organized abroad alleging that invaders
captured on the battlefield had been executed en masse, together with
imprisoned members of the same group.
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120. The Minister deplored the selective criteria by which the international o
L community judges human rights, as they apply only to some countries, while i
& _ others avoid the monitoring procedure. There were indeed many problems of i
L3 public order at the beginning of the Revolution, but the security and

E confidence of citizens has now been restored. “Islamic law and the Government
of the Islamic Republic of Iran respect human dignity and have organized the

institutions of the Islamic Republic of Iran on the basis of that essential
- principle. ) D , ‘ _ »

: 121. The Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran has made considerable
L efforts to meet the needs of the masses of refugees it has 'received from
. neighbouring countries and it has done so because they are human beings
suffering tremendous hardship. The ‘Islamic ‘Republic of Iran has received
3 million Afghans and approximately 500,000 Iraqis. In addition, 2 million of
: its own population have been displaced from the areas where the eight-year war
A was fought. ' L : o e I ' .

122. The Minister said that the Islamic Republic of Iran has declared war on
drug trafficking. Iranian territory has been used for the transit of hard
drugs to Europe and drugs have poisoned many Iranian young people.

Traffickers are frequently armed and are usually extremely dangerous. The
Islamic Republic of Iran is helping Europe by its war on drugs, but it has not
I ‘received any recognition for its efforts. R ’ a s

TS

123. The Special Representative then put some questions to the Deputy Minister
; and to the Director-General for political associations and parties. 'According
i [ __to their replies, warrants are required for all arrests except in cases of * -
T flagrante delicto.  The fime limit for the preliminary-investigation fs -~ -r----- :

e e

25, hours, after which the case is transferred to the competent judge or the
detainee is released. A warrant is also required for house searches. '

124. There are three police forces: the police, the gendarmerie and the
Islamic Revolutionary Committees. The latter are responsible for combating
terrorism and drug trafficking. A bill has been prepared to combine the three
police forces. = - - ' ' o

125. In 1982, an act was promulgated authorizing the activities of political
parties in accordance with the law. Political parties had never before
enjoyed legal recognition. During the early years of the Revolution, a number
of parties opted for armed struggle and others attempted to split the country,
but there was no lack of parties that played their genuine role.  All parties
are allowed to operate provided that they respect the Constitution and

by national independence. If they meet these requirements, they may be -

L authorized. ' ' o T :

i 126. A Commission composed of representatives of the executive, the Parliament
L ' and the judiciary is responsible for considering applications by parties for
registration. In 1989, seven political groups were authorized, together with -
10 groups representing religious minorities. The Commission meets regularly

i and is considering a number of applications on which a decision is pending.

g It authorizes political parties, groups carrying out political activities,
social and cultural associations representing religious minorities, trade
unions and professional associations and Islamic societies. :
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127. The Special Representative said he had been informed that the éssociation
for the Protection of Freedoms and Human Rights had not been authorized, even
though it had submitted its application some time ago. He was told that the
application was being given preliminary consideration, would soon be dealt
with by the Commission and mlght be decided on w1th1n three or four months.

128. The Special Representative_asked what legal requirements a commission on
human rights would have to meet in order 'to be authorized to operate.  He was
told that such a commission could be authorized provided that it met the two
conditions set out above, namely, respect for the Constitution and for the
country's independence, but, so far, no.application had been received for the
establishment of an association specifically concerned with safeguarding human
rlghts‘ . . - . . .

129. The Director.of the relevant administrative department added that two
groups named -the Association for the Protection of Freedoms and Human: Rights
and the Movement for Freedom are operating without legal authorizatlon. The
‘associations hope to be granted legal authorization, but, even without such
authorlzation, they criticize the Government and no'one interferes with them.

¢7. t1n w1th th Speci 1 Pr utor f r D bof f i k1
130 Holjatolislam Zargar, Spec1al Prosecutor for Drug Trafficklng, said that
the. objective of.the Government of the Islamic Republic of.Iran was .to
» encourage- the. development of a healthy and vigorous, society-and drew attentlon
to. the devastating effects of.drug consumption. An act has.been adopted.to .
1ntroduce legal measures in.the war against the transport,:distribution and
.. .consumption_of. hard drugs.v The_death penalty applies only_to. repeat offenders . s
~ - -and-is-directly -linked-to- distribut10n~:-The“1ntroductory paragraph of-the-act"——~*~“*w
reads as. follows: "The anti-drug issue has been widely discussed in various '
meetings held by the High Council for-Matters of Expediency where as a result
the Council ratified the anti-drug bill on-Aban 3, 1367 (October 25, 1988) -
which bypasses 1engthy formalities in deciding the cases of drug abuse and . -
trafficking and where the complete details of the new law are as follows".
The law contains 35 articles and .a number of notes which, according to the
Special Prosecutor, carry the same legal weight as the articles. e

-+ 131. The Prosecutor said that poppies were not being grown in, the Islamic
Republic of Iran at the present time and that, at 1nternationa1 meetings,Athe
Government had requested. that. that should be proven by means ‘of satellite.
monitoring. He presented two sets of samples showing the various kinds of
drugs that pass through Iranian territory and described some of the tricks

-used-by drug traffickers to mislead the authorities. . The most. recent seizure
netted three tons of cocaine. The Islamic Republic of Iran is helping-other
countries to protect the health of their young people but it received no
recognition for its efforts.

132, The Special Representative raised the issue of -the large: number of :

persons sentenced to death for drug trafficking and recalled. that, according

to calculations based on information provided by official Iranian radio, over

1,300 persons had been executed in slightly less than one year. He also said

that, according to information published by the weekly Tehran Times in its-

international edition of 7 December 1989, 14,000 drug trafflckers were. -in
"prison and 900 were awaiting execution. : :
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1 133. The Special Prosecutor\replied that the figures were exaggerated and that
not even he knew how many persons had been executed. The Special '
Representative said that the data were from official Iranian sources and that
the article published by the weekly Tehran Times on 7 December»1989'cited the
official news agency IRNA as its source.. He expressed the view that the
number of executions should be reduced considerably and many offenders should
be rehabilitated to allow them to return to their place in society. The
Prosecutor said that no public executions had taken place in the last -
five months and that criticism of the Government on that point was no longer
valid. - ~ o : : .

134. The Special Prosecutor then referred to the allegation that -political

prisoners had been executed on the grounds that they were drug traffickers.

He firmly denied the allegation, which had been circulating abroad for several
.months. The Government provides anyone who wishes to conduct a thorough

investigation with case files proving that all those executed were genuine’
~'drug traffickers. I ' Lo T e

135. In connection with the statements made by witnesses in a previous report
_ (A/44/620, para. 42), the Special Prosecutor made the following comments:
! (a) Nasser Mohammad Tachi, a political prisoner allegedly'executed as a drug
- trafficker, does not exist, his name does not appear in any file and no one of
that name has been executed; (b) the allegation’ that several executions took
| ' taken place in Monirieh Square is false, as that square has never been used -
l for executions; (c) executions have taken’' place in‘Moshiri Square, but none of
i those executed were named in the reportj (d) three executions took place'in
o Hashemi Square, but none of those executed were named’ in the report. *The' '
JI 7T LT [ Special Prosecutor redd out the names of “the persons-executed -in‘the- -
‘ above-mentioned squares. -:The Special Representative ‘took note of: the
, explanations and repeated his request that detailed replies should be'  “7-% -
; submitted to the communications he had transmitted to.the Government in'the
! past several years. He 'said that the explanations he had just received ' -’
: confirmed the importance of such replies. T Ll el

136. The discussion then turned to the question of excessively speedy
proceedings which involved drug trafficking and which suggested that there was
not enough time to ensure guarantees of due process of law. The Special
o Prosecutor denied that proceedings lasted between three andi ten days, although
o he acknowledged that it was impossible to ensure due process of-law in so
| short a time. The average duration of proceedings was seven months and, in
! . extremely serious cases, five months. The Special Representative said that
: the source of his information on the time limits referred to in his reports v
| was the Iranian Government itself, as a high Government official had mentioned -
those time limits in a radiobroadcast. The Special Prosecutor said that not
all high Government officials were well informed.

i ' 137. Lastly, the issue of the presence and functions of a lawyer in the
defence of accused persons was discussed at length. The Prosecutor said that,
under article 35 of the Constitution, all accused persons were entitled to a
defence counsel. Although that was the rule, he said that, in ‘some cases),
accused persons refused to accept a defence counsel, while, in others, lawyers .
refused to take on cases because they considered them indefensible. Moreover,
there was no sense in appointing a lawyer in cases of flagrant licto in
which the accused had confessed to the crime. The Special Representative said

that, in his opinion, it was necessary to establish a procedure effectively to
S _ - .




E/CN.4/1990/24
page 31

ensure without any room for doubt that no accused person, unless he himself
was a lawyer, was without a defence counsel; that, on the basis of that . .
principle, it should be considered that the right to a defence counsel could
not be waived; and that, if a lawyer refused to take on a case, others ‘should
be chosen until one finally accepted. Although it might sometimes be
difficult to find legal arguments for the defence, there were always
humanitarian reasons .for asking if not for. ‘acquittal, at least for a lesser
sentence. The law should also take account of the position of lawyers who .
refused without good reason to .be court—appo1nted defence counsel, for that
was part of their professional function and, just as doctors must not refuse
to treat patients, so lawyers must not refuse to defend accused persons: unless
there was some serious 1mped1ment which the judge should clearly state. The
Special Representative said that, if the rule was that no trial could begln or
continue without defence counsel, it. could be ensured that all accused -persons
had the necessary legal as51stance for their defence.

8. Meeti ¢ with the Di ctor-General of .

138. On 25 January, the Spe01a1 Representatlve v1s1ted Mr. Lajevardi, the
D1rector—Genera1 of Prisons, who drew his attention to the significant .
improvements in the prison system made on the basis of the principle that the
objective of 1mpr1sonment was not vengeance, but rehabilitation, that no one
was naturally bad and that all persons were capable of being re—educated.
Accordlngly, prisoners had been provided with televisions, radios, newspapers,
primary and secondary education, and even university education in some. cases,
as well as with workshops and religious instruction. Religious instruction
had yielded extremely satisfactory results in terms of the moral reform -of
prisoners. Doctors,. psychiatrists, social workers and other spec1allsts were
on hand to apply three methods of rehabilitation on an experimental basis.

-.- . Psychotherapy was yielding the_best. results with regard. to the rehabilltatlon S
“m Of PriBOMers . T s e e s e e e et st

| (4 139. The Director-General said that his office consisted of four d1v131ons.

, cultural, judicial, financial and law and order. He reported that clemency '
4 measures were adopted each year and showed voluminous files containing data on
; prisoners who, once their behaviour had been evaluated, would benefit from,v
such measures within a few days.

; 140. In reply to a question by the Spec1a1 Representatlve, the

h = Director-General said that persons convicted of terrorism and drug trafflcklng
: benefited from 1mprovements in the prison system on equal terms with, ordlnary

offenders. Drug addicts were initially detained for two months, durlng whlch

! time they were helped to give up the habit, but, if they relapsed, they were

| 8 ‘sent to labour camps which operated as rehabilitation centres. There was no .,

! d 7 central register of prisoners in Iran and each prlson kept its own, reglster.)

9. isit to Evin prison
141. In the afternoon of 25 January, the Special Representatlve v181tedeV1n

s ' prison. He first went to a workshop and then to other parts of the prlson.
He was welcomed on arrival by a choir and a small band made up by prlsoners.

-

o




' been commuted to 20 years' imprisonment. They all gave their names, but -

. prisoners did not. Mr. Kianouri hotly denied that he had spied for a foreign
" power and conspired to overthrow the Revolutionary Government. In the ™

~ acts of torture. He had been in prison for 25 years under the ‘Shah and-in -
- Evin for -7-years.- The threempnisonefg:Eﬁifé:;h§f§am§jQéll;f:fff:“””"*“*51?~ww~f~
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142. After visiting several workshops, where he learned that prisoners who
work earn wages, the Special Representative talked with five prisoners who
were waiting for him in a room. They said that-they were all former members
of the People's Mojahedin organization who had taken part in the July 1988 _
invasion and had been sentenced to death, although their sentence had later
been commuted to 20 years' imprisonment. The Special Representative spoke
with other convicts chosen at random in the corridors, one of whom said that
he had been a high-ranking military officer in the armed groups that had
invaded Iranian territory in 1988. Many of the prisoners had apparently’
belonged to the above-mentioned organization and their death ‘sentences had

requested thatithey should not be revealed.

143. Three former members of the Tudeh Party, Mr. Kianouri, its‘former =
Secretary-General, and two other members:of the party, one a high-ranking -
member and the other a grass-roots member, were in one of the cells.

Mr. Kianouri allowed his name ‘to be used in the report, but the two other

presence of Evin officials and employees, he said that he had been tortured,’
showed his partly paralysed hands and crushed fingers and described the’
beatings and other humiliations he had suffered. He was genuinely distressed
and his attitude was a mixture of protest and despair. S
144. The youngest of the three, who was a grass-roots member of the party,”
said that his party had spied for a foreign power and conspiréd to overthrow
the Government, an assertion which was firmly denied by the other prisoner”and
led to sharp words between them. The high-ranking member calmly described”

145. The Special Representative then visited a women's section, which is
separate from the men's and where the prisonmers he questioned said that'the
circumstances of their trial and imprisonment could be described as normal.-
They had neither been tortured nor subjected to ill-treatment and, in prison;
they were able to use the facilities described by the DirectorfGénerali$*5‘

146. During his visit to women's section 7, the Special Representative saw a
seven or eight—year—old‘child'and”immediately'tried to determine what she was
doing in the prison because he assumed that she might be the child who, -
according to a statement he had received in Geneva, was still in prison '~
because her mother had escaped. According to the explanations he was given,
the child he saw lived with her family, but had come to visit her mother,-who
was serving her sentence. She was the only child the Special Representative
saw in Evin. ’ ‘ R SR

147. The Special Representative asked for permission to visit the prison
basement and was told by the Director that there was no basement at Evin. The
prison was located on a steep slope at the foot of the mountain and, from
above, the first floor seemed lower, so that people usually referred to it as
the basement, but it was obvious that they meant the first floor. SR
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148. While visiting the cells, the Spec1al Representatlve asked for permission
to visit Mr. Roger Cooper, a British citizen who has been in prison since:
December 1985. His request was turned down by the Director of Evin on the
grounds that the prisoner was a self-confessed spy who was in solitary
confinement and whose sentence had been handed down a month earlier and was
currently being translated from Farsi into English. In reply to the

Special Representative's question concerning the penalty to which the prisomer
had been sentenced, one of the prison officials said that he had been given

10 years in prison, but the Director Sald that he was not sure exactly how
many years he had received.

149. The Special Representative asked to visit the prison records office. He
examined the card file and then gave the names of 12 persons who were in the
prison, accordlng to 1nformat10n he had received earlier, and who would
‘constitute ‘a sample, as their cases were all interesting and different. Thé
name of only one of the 12 persons was in the card‘file and the -Director of -
the prison ordered that the files, which were in another office, should be’ f“
consulted. After a few minutes' wait, the Director said that the other" ‘office

. was closed because. it was Thursday afternoon and the person .in charge had
"left,_51nce Frlday was a day off. The Special Representative asked to be able
to speak with four prisoners whose presence in Evin had been confirmed. The"

“four appeared ‘to give their testimony in private, but they requested that

their names and testlmony ‘should not be published because they hope to beneflt
from clemency measures qu1te soon. ‘

10. Visit to Parliament

150. The Spec1al Representatlve visited Parliament, where he spoke with a
group of deputies that included representatives of the officially recognlzed
religious m1nor1t1es,(name1y, the Armenlans, Assyrians, Jews and
-Zoreastrians.. Most of-the.conversation.was. w1ibfﬁ£ Rajai, former ~
Permanent Representative to the Unlted Nations and now Chairman of

the Parliamentary Commlss1on for Foreign Affairs.

151. Ambassador RaJal explained that candidates for the post of deputy are

.all individual candidates, not party candidates, and that, once they have been

elected they choose one of the two groups to which members’ of Parliament -
belong, the extremists and the moderates, although the blocks are not
immovable since a deputy can take the extremist line on some matters and the :
moderate . 11ne on others.

152. He said that, at the beginning of each session, two deputles may speak'on
any topic for 10 minutes each. They choose the topic freely ‘and then the =™~
items on the agenda are dealt with.

oy

153. The Parliament d1v1des its work up among commissions and" s

sub- comm1881ons. ‘Each ministry has a commission to examine its affairs, but

there are more commissions than ministries. Each commission is composed ‘of
> -E8 ® OTpeast A

" 13 members.

154. The people choose between individuals, not between parties. Each ‘"
individual conducts his own political campaign and candidates may form - -
alliances to support one another. Representatives of the religious minorities
are elected by their respective communities, but they represent the people~as
a whole on the same footing as other deputies.
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155. At the request of the Special Representative, Mr. Rajai described the new
Penal Code and its contents. The Code is currently being reviewed by the
relevant commission, although it has already been the subject of close
scrutiny by experts, and, if it is adopted by Parliament, it will then be
referred to the Council of Guardians. It is not yet possible to know what
final text will be adopted. ' . ' :

156. At the end of his visit, the Specia}'Representative attended a pleﬁéry_:
session of the Parliament. - : :

11. Round table at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs

157. Ayatollah Jennati, a member of the Council of Guardians, chaired the
round table which was attended by other members of the Council, the Director
of the Inspectorate General, the Deputy to the Head of the Judiciary, the
Chairman of the Bar Association and officials from the Ministry, of Foreign
Affairs. ' c ‘ ’

158. Ayatollah Jennati explained that the Council of Guardians, which is
composed of six legal experts and six religious authorities, is responsible :
for validating the laws adopted by Parliament in order to ensure that they are *
constitutional and in keeping with Islamic principles. The Head of the .
Judiciary appoints the legal experts, while the reéligious authorities are”
appointed by the Leader. The laws cannot be applied without the ‘approval of
the Council of Guardians.

159. Tﬁe Government draws its legitimacy from the Leader, whose human and .., 3
intellectual qualities are defined by article 109 of the Constitution. "The '

.~ ... . .leader. is chosen by a popular movement from among the coun;ryrs'mOSt ' -
R dustanding”reiigious*digniﬁariesu,J$hélAsééd51y:OIfEX§é;§§;Mypighsz*eleéte
by the people for eight years, is empowered to amend the Constitution and“to” ~
dismiss the Leader if he is no longer fit for office. T CLe

art;

160. Ayatollah Jennati stated: "The. Revolution is based on Islamic

1 principles, the degrees of the Prophet, the Koran and tradition emanating from
i the Prophet. These principles are compulsory and can admit no compromise. In
contrast with other countries in which secular principles prevail, religious”
principles play a leading role in the Islamic Republic of Iran. The % "

K Revolution that occurred in Iran has been under constant threat from those  who
wish to destroy it. It is difficult for those who live in a peaceful e
environment to understand this situation. "As long as these points are not

understood, it will be impbssible to solve the problems'.

B 161. In reply to a question on the role of international law in that context,

: Ayatollah Jennati said: "Any rule of intermational law. that is not contrary
to Islamic principles can be accepted, but a rule which flagrantly violates
those principles will have to be rejected by the Islamic Republic of Iran. If
it has to make a choice, the Islamic Republic will choose Islamic T
principles”. He said that an Islamic book dating back several centuries had
been recognized as a source of international law. He also pointed out that.
Islam attached greater importance to human rights than was the case in many
countries and that a draft Islamic declaration on human rights had recently
been prepared by experts meeting in Tehran.
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162. The Ayatollah replied affirmatively to the Spec1al Representatlve 5 -
. question whether he considered it worthwhile to prepare an academic programme
| D designed to identify points of conflict or potential disagreement between

4 international ‘law and Islamic law.

12. Meet;ng with the Deputy Foreign Minister for lLegal
onsular Affair

- 163. The Special Representatlve also-met Mr. Mir Mehdi, Deputy Foreign
Minister for Legal and Consular Affa1rs, who was accompanied by several senior
officials in the Foreign Ministry. - The: Deputy Minister informed the Special
Representative of the constitutional provisions governing the leg1slat1ve
process and according to ‘which laws may be proposed both by members of

' Parllament ‘and by the admlnlstratlon in' the form"” of Government bills.
Government b1lls have to be’ rat1f1ed by the Counc11 of M1nlsters. All
proposals have to be examined by the relevant parllamentary commissions or
sub-commissions. After their adoption by the plenary, laws have to be
approved by the Council of Guardlans (see para. 158) and are subsequently
promulgated by’ the President ‘and pub11shed in the Off1c1a1 Gazette. They are
enforceable 15 days after ‘their publlcat1on. The Government can formulate
’procedures for the practical 1mp1ementat10n of laws. : : : :

'16& The Deputy Minister also handed the Special Representat1ve eight folders
contalnlng 'letters and documentary material submitted by the Organlzatlon for
Defend1ng V1ct1ms of Vlolence as follows.

(a) One folder contalnlng some 100 letters of identical content from
' persons whose fam11y members were victims of terrorist attacks. The letters
are individually signed and the relatives ask that the Mojahedin who are
~--- -responsible-should-be- brought to -trial- and—request ‘payment - for- “the: ~damage-they -~ —
T have 1ncurred, ‘as well™ as “blood money. ' T

i , (b) One folder conta1n1ng 66" letters denouncing acts of terrorism by the
‘ 3 "' Mojahedin. : _

(c) Several pamphlets issued by the above-mentioned organization.

(d) A summary of reported acts of terrorism as claimed by the Mojahedin
organlzation 8 ince 1 98 2.

P o < sncesre

(e) A folder containing a letter from the above-mentioned organ1zat10n
listing 268 names of disappeared persons who were reportedly seen on
,television abroad and alleging that the Mojahedin organization used these

fpersons as mercenar1es and spies against the Islamic Republic of Iran.

(f) An account of a bomb explosion in Par11ament in 1982 which killed 72
persons. . .

(g) Over 100 letters signed "victim famlly" den0unc1ng the killing of
relatives by the Mojahedin with clippings from the Mojahed newspaper clalmlng
respons1b111ty for the killings.




Shiraz in 1981. | e e g

_xeproduced inthe-relevant part-of-this-report-(see para.. 16). .. ...

'169. On 28 January, after hearing several witnesses at the ﬂnitéEANéfions
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(h) A video cassette containing a documentary of a bqq_gxplpsiqnf;n

(i) A folder containing signatures of families of ali%géd,y}étj@s of 3
Mojahedin terrorism.

13,

165. The meeting with Mr. Ali Akbar Velayati took place almo;tnatgghe end of

the visit, so that it was possible to review the'aétivities'khfr}ed‘out;

166. The Special Representative again raised the‘questioﬁ df‘gxégufipgs_and

guarantees of due process of law. The Minister showed him a map of the

Islamic Republic of Iran and indicated the route followed by drug traffickers
almost

reaches Tehran. No conclusion was reached on the matter at that time. |

across a desert which runs through the country from east to west

167. The Midiétef_p;oved”immediately receptive to other spggeéiions

‘example, it was requested that the International Committeéﬂdfftgng¢&:C§65é
(ICRC) should regularly visit all prisons and monitor the treatment of all

prisoners, including political prisoners. The Minister replied that he wo
instruct his assistants to initiate discussions with ICRC for that purpose. -
The suggestion that the Centre for Human Rights might provide the Government
with technical assistance to improve the administration of the prison system
and to train executive officials in the implementation of human rights in .
accordance with international standards met with a similar response. The
Minister also said that he was prepared to consider requests for. clemency
submitted to him by the Special Representative on humanitarian grounds. _The
‘following day, the Special Representative submitted such a request, which is

I inn s o e o = gt e b

168. The Minister said that his Government was willing to estab ish broader
co—operation with the United Nations in. general and with the Commission on
Human Rights in particular. ~The possibilities that broader co—-operation might
offer in the immediate future were then discussed. ST

14. Final meeti

Development Programme's office and seeing documentary films at the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs on the arrival and the funeral of Imam Khomeini and on a bomb
explosion at the President's 6ffice, a brief final meeting was held with
officials of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The Deputy Minister, )

Mr. Manouchehr Mottaki, Ambassador Tabatabai and Mr. Alai were present. _The
Deputy Minister summed up the Government's points regarding human rights. He
described the recent hijacking of an aeroplane in the provinces as an example
of terrorism in the country. ' '

170. The discussion then turnmed to another step the Government might take to
improve co-operation with the Commission on Human Rights. ‘For this purpose,
the Special Representative said that detailed replies to all the
communications transmitted would be a token of broader co-operation and, in
this way, it would be possible to proceed with inquiries into cases which are
at the preliminary stage of investigationm.
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171 The Special Representatlve handed Mr. Mottak1 an aide-mémoire contalnlng
the following complaints received: information that, in the course of ‘his
stay in Tehran, some persons were threatened and others arrested; and the case
of two women who had gone to the United Nations Development Programme 's office
and had not returned home. These reports were received over the telephone.
The Government was requested to take p051t1ve action.

C. Information received by ‘the pecial Representativ

‘ﬁ_x;om_mm_—ggzg_r_nmstmiﬁmlmﬂ

172. In accordance with previous practice, the Special Representative received
oral testlmony during his visit to the Islamic Republic of Iran from: persons
claiming to have’ flrst—hand experience of the human rights situation in the
country. Such hearings were due to take ‘place at the UNDP Office in Tehran.
However, on Monday, 22 January 1990, tumultuous demonstrations ‘began which
1mpeded the access of witnesses who had prev1ously asked for appointments to
the. building where the UNDP Office is located: The demonstratlons latér also
spread to the hotel where the Spec1al Representative was staying, so that it
became 1mposs1ble to hear all those who had wanted to see him. On the other
. hand, many of the demonstrators also asked to be heard by the Special
Representatlve and, given their large numbers, ‘he could only accept such
requests at random and hear two large groups collectlvely. Summaries of the
oral testlmonles received are glven below.’ _ o ’

Exegutlggs

173. Mr. Kianouri, former Secretary—General of the Tudeh Party, denounced the
~execution-of - thousands—of- young"people ‘whom -he -considered - totally-innocent. - - . ooe.
Although they had been accused of" ‘collaboration with thé Tudéh Party, he™ ™"
considered himself exclusively responsible for any crimes ascribed to the -

Party. He handed the Special Representative a copy of a letter he had sent in

"this regard to the leader of the Islamic Repub11c of Iran, Ayatollah Khamene1.

l7h Moteza Nosrati reported the executlon of his brother Gholam Reza Nosrat1
in 1367 (1989), then 26 years old, on the charge of political activities. "He
said that his brother had been a member of the Arman (Shariati) organlzation
Whlch had promoted opposition to the Govermment by peaceful means. Afterwards
"Hé"had joined the Mojahedin but had never been 1nvolved in: acts of v1olence.
After his arrest in 1361 (1983), he was sentenced to eight' years'

'1mprlsonment. When the detainees at Rasht prison, where he was held,

protested against the refusal of family visits, a group meeting of pr1soners
with their families was arranged by the authorities. Dur1ng that visit many
prisoners took off their clothes so that their relatives could see the extent
_to which they had been tortured. After this incident all visits were
suspended and one’ year later Gholan Reza Nosrati was executed. " The famlly was
informed of the execution only f1ve months after it had taken place.

175. One witness who requested that her name should be kept conf1dent1al
stated that her son, 18 years of age,‘was involved in ‘the’ Islamlc Revolutlon,
but later joined the Mojahedin. The first attempt to arrest him was at his
house, but he escaped. Two months later he was arrested in the street in the
early hours and executed the same evening. She read about the execution in
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the newspapers. The witness suggested that the Special Representative should
visit the cemetery of Behest Zahra on the outskirts of Tehran where, on
Thursdays, many mothers of executed persons mourn together at the mass graves
where their chlldren were burled.

176. Another witness who requested that his name should be kept conf1dent1al
reported the death of his son who was executed in the third quarter

of 1989 (1367). His son was arrested in 1360 (1982) and accused of
sympathizing with the Mojahedin. 0r1g1na11y he had been condemned to

nine years' imprisonment, but was executed at the end of seven and a half
years. The witness had no knowledge as to whether or not a second trial had
been held prior to the execution.

177 Another witness who requested that his name should be kept conf1dent1a1
“stated that he had been an active supporter of Ayatollah Khome1n1. . -

Nevertheless representatlves of the Revolutionary Commlttees had broken 1nto

his’ house and arrested seven of his children. They were accused of belonglng

" to, the MOJahedln, but this accusation was not corroborated by any ev1dence.

After ‘the’ war, one and a half years ago, five of his chlldren -were executed in
‘a wave of executlons of some 20,000 prisoners. Two sons were still in Evin

w‘prlson, one of them 51ck and the other paralysed as a result of torture.'

Isfahan were executed. In ‘one: of these cases, 1nformat10n
received later that he had ‘been.sentenced to six months’ only.” Accordlng to
“the witness -the governor was wr1t1ng execution orders without awaltlng the
sentences.1 A SO—year—old woman known in -the city of Shahroud as :
demonstratlon,
g Vically and psycholog1cally and ..
-after » -jail, -the w1tness met -a g1r1 who was later
executed because she had sung a MOJahedln song.f :

. RN o ’!,‘_' .
‘. T .
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179 A father and hlS daughter, who requested that thelr names should be kept
" confidential reported the execution in June 1988 of his son. ' He had been
arrested while in possession of Mojahedin publications, but had consistently
denied belng in any way associated with that organlzatlon. When the father
1nquired from the judge, Mr. Lajevardi, he was informed that there’ was no
charge agalnst his son. Nevertheless, he was kept in prlson for nine years
.and was severely tortured. In November 1987, prison visits were suspended. .

In June 1988, the famlly received a call that they could go' and visit the"
son. When the father arrlved at the jail, he was beaten up and told that his
son had been executed. They were referred to a mass grave without names and,
although they searched for the body, they were not able to f1nd the corpse.

180. Two witnesses who requested that their names should be kept confldentlal
reported the execution of their brother and son respectively. He was a’
soldier who had deserted from the front and had become a member of the
Mojahedin. 'He was imprisoned in the province of Khlalkhal in 1365 (1987)
where he was allegedly tortured. During the time he was under arrest, the
family tried to find an attorney for him, but the’ authorltles said there was
no need for it. The family was advised that he would be tried 10 days after
his arrest, but he was executed by public hanging before that time had
elapsed. The w1tnesses further stated that he was bur1ed together with
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another executed person in a remote mountain area. However, another brother
dug up the body so as to give it a proper burial. The local Islamic
Revolution Committee continued to harass the grandfather of the executed
person and to search his house. Furthermore, an uncle was arrested and became
handlcapped as a result of beatings inflicted upon him at Sepah prison.

181. One w1tness who said that she was the daughter of a Mullah from Mashad

.but did not want to disclose her name, alleged that a Mullah by the name of

Ardabili had ordered the execution of-24 prisoners in Mashad without any prior
judicial procedure. Only one month ago two groups of 17 and 15 persons each
had been hanged on drug trafficking charges and thelr bodies had been disposed
of in the city's sewage system.

Denial of alleged executions

182. Gholan Reza Bagheban stated that he had been arrested four times: his
last arrest had taken place four years ago when he was held at Ahwaz prison.
He had always been very well .treated. Durlng ‘his time .in prison, he saw his

- name in a Mojahedin publication, included in a list of people who supposedly

had been executed. The witness affirmed that he knew of many similar
situations and at the Special Representative's request offered to provide him
later with a copy of the Mojahedin publication in which his name had appeared.

183. Another witness who requested that her name should be kept confidential
stated that one of her friends (name not provided) had been listed by the
Mojahedin as executed, but in fact was still alive.

184. Several persons belonging to a group of 78 people -heard collectively by
the Special Representative stated that their names had appeared in lists of

‘ﬁ“executed*persons publlshedwby~the-Mogahedln organizat10n~-At the request-of- .
" the ‘Special Representative, four of them were able to presént ‘theit idéntity ="

papers. The names of these persons are as follows: Ismail Zarei, Mahmoud
Reza Said Nejad, Soghra Farhadi and Behnam Garai. The latter three provided
corresponding pages.of the Mojahedin newspaper.

Acts Qf terrorism

185. Reza Djamshidi M1andasht1 complained about the k1111ng of his 16—year—old
son in Shalamtcheh by the Mojahedin. At the age of 14, he had voluntarily
gone to the war and had fought for his country until he was killed by the
Mojahedin. :

186. Mr. Madjid Valizadeh stated that he wished to complain about the
terrorist activities of the Mojahedin organization. He said he knew of
several such incidents, including the case of a person who was skinned alive
and of another who was burned alive during Mojahedin attacks against villages

~in the north of the country. He applauded the efforts of the Government in

the economic, cultural and educational fields and inquired why the United -
Nations had not sent representatives to investigate such serious situations as
the use of chemical weapons by the Iraqi army or the recent invasion of Panama
by the United States of America.
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187. A witness who wished to have his name kept confidential described himself
as an "independent citizen". He stated that human rights were fully respected
in the Islamic Republic of Iran. The Commission on Human Rights should rather
have appointed a Special Representative for the situations in Panama and
Azerbaijan. He wanted to protest about the Mojahedin and the attitude of the
United Nations vis—a-vis the Mojahedin which he felt had not been impartial.
He said that the Government was clement; on. .the other hand the Mojahedin were
violent. He had witnessed two men attack-a food shop and kill the owner only
because he was a Hezbollah (partisan of God). The witness said that the
persons who were asking to see the Special Representative had a very low level
of education. -Often they had lost a child one way or another and -just wanted

to voice their grief.

188. Another witness who wished his name to be kept confidential complained
about the assassination of his father, a shopkeeper, by the Mojahedin. He -
said the sole reason for this murder was the fact that his father had been a
very religious man. The assassin was arrested, but did not seem to repent his
crime. The witness believed that he was later executed. The witness also
stated that his uncle was killed by the Mojahedin because he was collecting
food and clothes for men fighting in the war. ’

'189. Another witness, who requested that his name should be kept confidential
reported the death of ‘his brother in 1360 (1982). The brother was a Hezbollah
and was assassinated by the Mojahedin for this sole reason. Two -attempts were
made on his life.. In the second, he was killed in the street with a machine
gun. . . N

190. A group of six persons representing 78 people whose relatives had
allegedly been assassinated by the Mojahedin complained about the .barbarous

“Uvay.in which tHése Killings had been carried out. - They stuted-that;-in-their --- -

opinion, every Mojahed had killed at least 100 persons. The witnesses felt =~

that the United Nations should severely condemn the Mojahedin organization. -
One person in the group said that in her family. four people had been killed by
the Mojahedin and that her son, before dying, had his two legs amputated. The
witnesses also critized the allegations by the Mojahedin concerning executions
and torture in the Islamic Republic of Iran. In this connection, they:. _ '
suggested the creation of an international commission under the auspices of
the United Nations to investigate the conditions in Iranian prisons. ’

191. A group of 68 persons, including some 20 Kurds, asked to be heard by the
Special Representative. Several of them recounted. their personal experiences
as ex-members of the Mojahedin or as victims of Mojahedin terrorism. Some of
them stated that the Mojahedin organization had induced them to show
self-inflicted burns or other marks of torture in order to enhance the false’
propaganda spread by the organization. Others denounced various acts of
terrorism by the Mojahedin which ranged from the killing of individual persons
to the invasion of entire villages causing the death of many people. They
asked the Special Representative to inform the world about the real nature of

" Mojahedin activities in order to increase trust for .the United Nations among

the Iranian people. A number of testimonies concerned people who had been
included in lists of executed persons published by the Mojahedin, but were .
reportedly alive. Four participants in the meeting declared that their names
had appeared on such lists and, at the request of the Special Representative,
presented their identity papers (see also para. 184).
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192. Another group of some 60 Kurds and Turkomans were also receive? by the
Special Representative at their request. Several Kurds reported.crlmeg
allegedly committed by armed groups of the Kurdish Democratic Party which
according to them comprised 2,000 to 3,000 members and was supported by the
Iraqi Government, as well as by armed groups of the Kpmala Communist Party,
which had some 700 members. The terrorist activities of the latter were far
more serious since they attacked entire:villages and, in contrast to the

- Kurdish Democratic Party, refused any negotiations with the Government. A

person from Paveh (Kurdistan) related-how he was abducted and tortured by
members of the Democratic Party and how they had fired at other civilians with
rockets. Another person from the same city referred to the attack on a :
hospital, 10 years ago, by 1,700 members of the Democratic Party who had not
even respected the symbol of the Red Crescent. He wondered why the Special
Representative had not visited the area at that time. A Sunni (Hannafi
branch) from the Turkoman desert alleged that Mojahedin groups tried to arouse
anti-Shia feelings in his region by spreading false propaganda financed by
‘Saudi money. He stressed that the Government was actively supporting
religious activities by the Sunni minority. He also reported the destruction
of houses in a village of his region by terrorist groups. Other crimes.
allegedly committed by the Mojahedin were reported by a person from Western
Islamabad, including incidents of mine-laying, the placing of bombs in cars
and buses and the assassination of six members of the same family in
Ghalashahin.” All these witnesses were unanimous in condemning terrorists acts
by the Mojahedin and requested the Special Representative to report the
situation to the international community.

193. Another witness who requested that his name should be kept confidential
said that he was detained from 1360 (1982) to 1362 (1984) in the prison of
Mashad. He was a member of the Mojahedin organization when he was arrested,

~Mbut;~since~thenv'he*hadwreaiizedmhow'wrong~the“objecﬁ&veswof”the"Mojahedin“““““*“”W~ﬁf

weré;"The"witnéSE”EéIié%é&ﬁihafﬁaﬁyméﬁfioﬁ”initiétéd'biﬂihe“Uh{ted'Nhfiéﬁé”lww“
should be balanced and one of the main objectives should consist in shedding
light on the many crimes committed by the Mojahedin. - :

194. Another witness who requested that his name should be kept confidential
stated that he was a member of the Mojahedin. He was detained the first time
in 1359 (1981) for four months and again from 1362 (1984) to 1367 (1989). He
was held in Ahwaz and Mashad prisons and in the prison of the Sepah. The
witness described himself as being very active politically, even before the-
Revolution. He declared that the Mojahedin were making the lives of their -
imprisoned former comrades very difficult since they had left the country and
exploited them from abroad. The Mojahedin deliberately misled people.about
prison conditions. Despite the fact that he had been involved in armed
struggle, he was allowed to see his wife who was arrested together with him -

already three days after their arrest. o

195. Another witness who requested that her name should be kept confidential
considered herself a victim of both the Mojahedin and the Islamic Revolution.
Her husband had collected arms in preparing for the Revolution against the
Shah. After the Revolution, he supplied some arms to the Mojahedin and was
arrested and executed. She was also arrested but released after three years -
of imprisonment and found herself, left alone with three children, in a
desperate situation with no help whatsoever from the Government or the
Mojahedin. She felt that her's was a typical example of how the Mojahedin

treated their former supporters.
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196. Four other witnesses who requested that their names should be kept

confidential were also heard individually. They stated that they had been 1
former members or sympathizers of the Mojahedin organization. They had ) |
repented and, after having served prison sentences, were released. They said .
that in prison they had always received decent and humane treatment. They i
denounced various atrocities committed by the Mojahedin and felt that the . i
Special Representative should inform the international community of the brutal i
terror unleashed by that organization against innocent citizens. One of the é
witnesses, while making his oral deposition, wrote a note to the Special - b
Representative indicating that he had been forced to .state the above and that %x
many ex-prisoners had been induced by the authorities to make similar i
statements under threat of execution if they denounced their real experiences
in prison. ‘ B : .

- Torture

197. Ali Akbar Ghaffari stated that he had belonged to the military faction of
the Mojahedin. He had been detained from 1361 (1983) to 1366 (1988) in Ahwaz
‘prison, where he had never witnessed any torture or been subjected to it _
himself, although from time to time the wardens treated detainees roughly or g
occasionally slapped them. He was sentenced to life imprisonment but his "~ b |
sentence was subsequently commuted. He stated that prison facilities were . !
excellent, that food had been abundant and that he had received family visits
regularly. - - : ) : : :

198. Mr. Kianouri, former Secretary-General of the Tudeh Party, denounced that
he has been kept in jail for 10 years, .seven of which he spent at Evin :
prison. He said that he was tortured several times and as a result his hands

199, Mr. Tavassoli, a former Mayor of Tehran and member of the Movement for:
Freedom, related his experience during his detention of nine months, eight and
a half of which he was forced to spend in solitary confinement. He said that
he was beaten, insulted, intimidated and forced to remain in cold cells. or.
seated on the same chair for -long hours. . The purpose of such practices was to
make him confess things he had never done (see also para. 208).

200.. Another witness who wished his name to be kept secret said that he was -
arrested twice. The charges brought against him were financial support for
the Mojahedin (first arrest) and writing Mojahedin slogans (second arrest).
The first time he was detained from 1360 (1982) to 1365 (1987) in Tehran
(Committee and Evin prisons). He stated that on both occasions he was
severely tortured. In Evin he was in section 4 where detainees were. .
frequently tortured. According to his knowledge section 7 of Evin prison was
even worse as far as torture was concerned. The worst treatment to which he
was subjected was the following: he was tied to a wire bed and beaten up for
an extended period until losing the capacity to cry; he had almost fallen -

and how gradually the sensitivity of the body decreased during the beatings.
Lashes on the soles of the feet were a frequent practice. He also said that
for long periods he was kept in solitary confinement with reduced food rations.
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201. Another witness who requested that her name should be kept confidential
stated that she had been arrested in 1362 (1984) and freed in 1367 (1989).
She had been a member of the Mojahedin and was involved, as was her brother,
in armed struggle. She was sentenced originally to 12 years but her sentence
was commuted at, the time of the general ammesty. She stated that she was not
tortured in prisom. Accordlng to the witness, the Government seemed to know
all the activities of the Mojahedin and ‘had no need to torture the prisoners
to obtain information. The witness stated that she was allowed to attend

school classes while in prison. Her husband was condemned to death but his

sentence had also been commuted. She said ‘that she could visit him once a
week in jail and that all married’eouples were entitled to private visits.

202. Another witness who requested that his name should be kept confidential
stated that he had joined the Mojahedin in 1359 (1981). In 1361 (1983), all
leaders of the Mojahedin started going abroad and left in his house a ‘cache of
arms. One n1ght in 1362 (1984), he was arrested together with his wife and -
baby. He feared that they would be executed because of ‘the 1mportance of the

- arms cache in their house. However, they were detained only for seven months

at Gorgan jail. Later he was arrested for a second time and served a
n1ne—month term in prison. He said that while in prlson he did not suffer any
torture or ill- treatment other than what was env1saged under. Islamic law,’;
ment10n1ng lashing by way of example. His w1fe and ch11d received good
medlcal care. e
203. Another witness who requested that his name should be kept confidential
described himself as an ex-Mojahedin who had been involved in armed struggle.
He was arrested by the guards and shot in the foot. He was first brought to
Evin prison. After the treatment for his injury, he was transferred to - °
TAhwaz. “He was in’ prigon from -13617(1983) to 1365 (1987): T'His &enténce’ ‘had™”
been commuted from 10 to 7 ‘years. Currently he worked for the Government."
During his time in prlson ‘he had not seen or heard of any cases of torture"
except occa51ona1 slapplng '

204. Another w1tness who requested that his name should be kept conf1dent1a1
declared that he was arrested in 1364 (1986) in Sanandaj accused of
sympathizing with the Mojahedin and was later transferred to Tehran, where he
was held at the Committee and Evin prisons. He said that he stayed there for
nine months in 1nhuman conditions which he descrlbed as follows: cells

1.5 by 2 metres in size held &4 to 5 people and cells 3 by 5 metres in s1ze as
many as 40 people. The lights were always on and fam11y visits very rare.
Accordlng to the witness, about 90 per cent of the inmates he met had been f
either severely tortured or submitted to treatment akin to torture. He -
himself was tortured by whipping with cables. When he fell unconscious, cold
water would be sprinkled on his face. Another common method of torture was to
whip the soles of the feet of prisoners and then force them to walk.. A
variant of this torture was to dress the wounds and pull the dried dre551ng
off the soles. The witness also said that his trial took five minutes and -
after serv1ng his sentence he was on probation for three years. Although the
three years are over he still has to report to the Islamic Revolutlon '
Committee once a month. In hlS family, three people had been executed' a -’
brother and two cousins.




. .. Administration of justi

E/CN.4/1990/24
page 44

205. Another witness from. Isfahan who requested that her name should be kept
confidential was arrested in 1360 (1982) while participating in a ,
demonstration. She spent four years in the following jails: Ghezel Hessar,
Karaj, Semnan, Ghom, Shahrood, Isfahan. After her arrest together with 27
other women and 24 men six women were kept in cells o;iginally designed for
one person. At Ghezel Hessar prison, the door would be opened only one time a

day to let them go to the toilet. Their hair was cut and 30.lashes per person

were a frequent form of punishment. They’Wefe also taken to a corridor and
forced to crawl while guards kicked them. One handicapped woman by the name

of Zahra Gorgani was brutally whipped. "The witness also reported the case of

a mother arrested together with her two—mpnths—old baby. The baby grew up in
prison. '

206. Another witness from Mashad who requested that her name should be kept
confidential'referred to her five years' imprisonment in Evin prison. She had
originally been sentenced to nine years on the charge of having contacts with
Palestinian groups, but her sentence had been commuted to five years. She
said that during heér imprisonment lashing on the soles of the feet had been a
common occurrence. - ' - >

207. Another witness who requested that his name should not be disclosed
alleged that he had been tortured at Evin prison, where he had spent several
years. The practices inflicted upon him consisted of whipping, being hung
from the ceiling, being handcuffed or kept awake during extended periods. He
had reported these practices to the authorities on a form which had once been
circulated to the prisoners by the prison administration.

208. Mr. Tavassoli, a former Mayor of Tehran and leading mémber of "the
Movement for Freedom, reported his arrest in June 1988 by a group of armed
persons who broke into his house, took all his personal belongings, many of
which had still not been returned, and brought him to Towhid prison where he
was interrogated during five and a half months by agents of the Ministry of
Information. He stated that he was not informed of the charges against him as
required by article 32 of the Constitution and was not presented to a court
within 24 hours, as stipulated in the same article. His interrogators were
trying by every means including beatings, insults and threats to make him
confess that he had passed information to the enemy. After three months the
Prison's Organization complained about his treatment and after five and a half
months he was transferred to Evin prison where he had to remain for another
three months. Finally he received a 1ist of charges as follows: activities
against the security of the Government, activities to topple the Government
and assistance to the enemy. A meeting Prime Minister Bazargan had with the
United States Ambassador in 1979 with the express agreement of '

Ayatollah Khomeini was cited as a proof for. these charges. He was held for
eight and a half months in solitary confinement, although the law stipulated a
maximum of four months. His complaints jin this regard remained unanswered.
After his release he was ordered to report to Evin prison where he was treated
harshly and again threatened. '

209. Mr. Yazdi, former Foreign Minister in the first provisional Go#ernment'

after the Revolution, referred to cases in which persons had not been released -

at the end of their prison sentences; some had been retried, some executed and
yet others simply kept in detention. He mentioned in particular the case of
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his nephew Hassan Zadiri who was arrested instead of his brother, who had
absconded. He was tried after three years of detention and sentenced to
another seven years. Last year his parents were informed that he had
committed suicide. When the parents expressed surprise that his corpse was
black, the official version given for the reasons of his death was changed to
food p01son1ng. He and Mr. Bazargan also referred to other cases of
substitute pr1soners, such as Dr. Yaya Naz1r1, held at Evin prison because the
authorltles had not been able to arrest his ‘son, who had absconded.

210. A w1tness who‘requested that his name 'should be kept confidential
reported the arrest, in 1981, of Ali Bani Hashemi when he was 22 years old.
According to the witness, Ali was now be1ng held at Nazi-Abad prison in
Tehran. The circumstances of his arrest were described as follows: Ali with
a group of 90 other people were celebrating an Islamic holiday when members of
the Regional Committee invaded the place and arrested them. The witness

* stressed that this had not been a p011t1ca11y motivated meeting but a

get-together of young Muslim people. Ali was released the same day, but the
“Islamic Revolutlon Commlttee recalled him and he was sentenced to life
1mpr1sonment. The sentence was subsequently commuted to seven years, but 20
of his friends arrested on the same occasion were executed. During the
summary trial of the whole group, no ‘defence was admitted. Although Ali had
spent eight years. and seven months in prison, he was not released. "The ‘prison
administration had 31mp1y adv1sed the family that his sentence had agaln been
changed to life imprisonment w1thout any additional trlal.

211. Another witness who requested that his name should be kept confidential®
stated that he was a former member of the Mojahedin and had served two prison
terms for this reason. He said that shortcomings in the administration of

individuals in the lower strata of the adm1nlstrat10n.

212. A group of three w1tnesses who requested that their names should be kept
confidential alleged that there was a high degree of arbitrariness .in the
appllcatlon of the law. In cases before the Islamic Revolutlon Courts, for
instance, the defendants were hardly ever informed of the charges, but merely
asked what they believed to be the reason for their arrest and trial. Death
sentences before these courts were rendered in a summary procedure.. No
lawyers were admltted and no witnesses presented by the defendant were
examlned. Until recently, all death sententes had to be approved in Qom, and
currently by the competent section of the Supreme Courtyj but the files .
submitted for approval never contained any statements by the defendants. o

213 An experlenced lawyer who was able to continue his practlce after the -
Revolution severely criticized the arbitrariness of legal procedures in many
respects. He stated that lawyers generally did not believe in the legality of
the courts and the law applied by them. Several laws had been adopted by
specialized councils without passing through the Parllament. Matters
concerning the clergy were dealt with by special. courts protectlng the =
clergy's pr1v1leges. It was very difficult for attorneys to function
effectively within a framework of 111ega11ty. Before Islamic Revolution
Courts no legal repesentation was possible and no appeals were admltted. In
cases of death sentences passed by these courts the defendant was never .
informed of his condemnation. Such sentences were reviewed by the competent.
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section of the Supreme Court without the defendant's knowledge that he had
been sentenced to death and without any further hearings. Other sentences
were generally read out and the right to appeal existed; however in
politically sen31t1ve cases 1awyers were reluctant to plead for the accused.

214, Another witness who requested that his name should be kept confidential
stated that he had been arrested for supportlng the MOJahedln.' He described
his trial as follows: Without advance notice he was presented to a mullah who
put some questions to him. A few minutes later he was given a verdict of two
years imprisonment. No lawyer was present. He also stated that during the
period of interrogation while waiting blindfolded for his turn he heard the
cries of many persons 1nclud1ng a woman and her baby. This was intended to
intimidate prlsoners before 1nterrogat10n.

215. An
alleged

engineer who requested that -his name should be kept confidential
that, in 1361 (1983), when he was 29 years old, representat1ves of the

regional Islamic Revolution Committee ransacked his home and the business he

-had with his father. He later started another business, but two factories he

had created were exproprlated, one of them upon a dec131on by the local
governor and the local imam. He had taken his case to a court which decided
in his favour. However, the .sentence was never accepted. He promised to
forward documentation as to the veracity of the facts he had reported. He
added that the many arbltrary decisions taken by the authorities and the lack
of effective legal remedies were completely paralysing the country's economy.

He also

stated that two cousins of his (names provided) were executed in 1982

and 1983 respectively for no apparent reasons although there had been rumours
that they were sympathlzers of the MOJahedln

Right to—leave the
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216. A translator of technical books who requested that his name should be
kept confidential stated that for the last five years he had been unsuccessful
in his attempts to obtain a passport to continue his studles abroad. No
reason for the refusal was ever given.. His passport had been conflscated when
he tried to leave the country five years ago.

217. Another witness stated that he was a former member of the Mojahedin and
therefore w1shed that h1s name be kept confidential. He had been in prison

twice but was no longer obliged to report regularly to the Islamic Revolution
Committee. He had asked for a passport to leave the country, a request Wthh

-had been refused so far. He believed that the reason for the refusal was his

former involvement with the Mojahedin.

Right of peaceful assembly and association o

218. The Special Representative met Mr. Bazargan, Prime Minister of the first
provisional Government after the Revolution and president of the Movement for
Freedom of Iran established as a political party in 1961. He stated that the
Movement for Freedom has been kept alive despite considerable restrictionms

imposed

on its activities.. Its newspaper had been confiscated illegally and

attempts to obtain a judicial decision on this matter had failed; according to

an oral

offices

members
who was

response by the authorities the respective file had been lost. The
of the Movement were confiscated in June 1988 and four of its leading

‘had been arrested, including Mr. Tavassoli, a former mayor of Tehran,

also present at the meeting. The telephones of the Movement were
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tapped and its mail was opened in clear contravention of constitutional _
guarantees; moreover, its members were frequently intimidated or harrassedr’;
Most of the leading members of the Movement for Freedom and their families had
suffered from bomb explosions in their houses and the situation in the
provinces was even worse. All .these limitations were almed at cutting the
contact of the Movement with the population. The Movement only participated
in the first election after the Revolution but not in subsequent elections in
which they were prevented from part1c1pat1ng freely.” He himself had for

'1nstance not been approved as a candidate for the presldentlal elections. The

legal "situation of the Movement for Freedom was kept in suspense although
article 26 of the Constitution permitted the formation of political parties
prov1ded they did not violate the pr1nc1p1es of independence, freedom, .
nat10na1 unity, the cr1ter1a of Islam, or the basis of the Islamic Republlc.g
The Partles Act was approved by Parliament in 1981, but the committee in ’
charge of its implementation, as provided for in article 10, was constituted.
in late 1988 only. Although the Movement for Freedom had submitted all the
requlred information, its application had so far not been dealt with. The
‘article 10 Commission practically never met and so far had only approved the
statutes of associations and partles such as the Women 's Association of the
Islamlc Republlc of Iran, headed by the daughter of Ayatollah Khomeini, the
M111tant Clergy Party and a third association close to the Government.

219. The Spec1a1 Representatlve met members of the "Assoc1atlon for the -
Protection of Liberties and Human Rights" who described the difficulties they
were - fac1ng in the1r act1v1t1es. They stated that the Association had been
founded four years ago and its charter which only contalned principles '
recognlzed by the Constitution had been submltted to the Ministry of Interior
for approval. Nevertheless, the Association never received an official

authorities which were duly completed, but no reply was given to the1r request
for official. recognition. The authorities had occupied the Association's .
offlces one and a half years ago and its chairman was arrested on that
occassion. All attempts the Assoc1at10n had made to get access to pr1nt1ng
houses. in. order to circulate publications had been obstructed systematically.
They could, however, circulate by hand photocopies of their newsletter. o
Slmllar restrlctlons were also experlenced by other organlzatlons trying to h
promote human rights and freedoms, such as the Movement for Freedom of former
Pr1me Mlnister Bazargan.‘ : i , L

t 1 ' 1

220. The Special Representative visited the Bar Association where he was
received by its president, Mr. Eftekhar Jahroumi, and four members of the
Assoc1at10n. He was informed that the Association comprised some 2,000 .
lawyers in the whole country, 100 of which were women. Fifty-five per cent bf,
the attorneys exercised their profession in the capital. In addition 400 °
trainees (130 women) would be eligible to become lawyers by 1990 'The bar
examination could be taken with a bachelor of law degree after one ‘year of
training. Membership of the Association was mandatory for all courts. The . -
president of the Association explained that the Revolutionary Counc11 had
passed a law concerning procedures for the establishment of profes51onal
associations which was endorsed by the High Judicial Council (the functions of
which are now exercised by the Head of Judiciary). ~ Subsequent to the changes
introduced by that law and in view of the fact that the old president and
board of the Association had either left the country or their licences had »
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been cancelled by revolutlonary courts, he had been appointed to direct’ ‘the
Association on a provisional basis. Altogether some 50 licences of members of
the Association were cancelled in the first years after the revolution} durlng
the past five years, however, only two such cancellations were decreed. The
provisional period would be over in 1991 at which time the members of ‘the
Association would again be able to elect their pres1dent and board members.
The president of the Association stressed that every person could freely
choose a lawyer to represent him before the courts. In a number of cases the
app01ntment of an attorney was mandatory. The Association also provided free
legal services to penal courts in cases in which the defendant could not
afford to pay for a lawyer. He recognlzed that in the aftermath of the
revolution the role of attorneys was not viewed positively, but gradually the
situation had improved. The Association was a member of the Internat10nal Bar
Association, was providing health and life insurance plans to its members on a
voluntary baSIS and was presently preparing a retirement plan. The -
Association was also g1v1ng its oplnlons on draft laws at its own 1n1t1at1ve.
221. An attorney and ‘former judge with 30 years of profe331ona1 experlencel
reported severe restrictions of the rights stipulated in article 14 of the
Internat10na1 Covenant on Civil and Political nghts, in particular before the
Islamic Revolution Courts. In general lawyers were not admitted before these
courts and were harrassed or intimidated if they tried to insist. One
well—known case in this regard was ‘the trial of Mr. Entezam, a former
Ambassador to Sweden, accused of unauthorized contacts with representatlves of
the United States of Amerlca.' But even in ordinary penal cases lawyers had" to
be very careful and he. referred to the example of one of his colleagues who
after having asked for an additional hearing in a suit was indicted and
...condemned . for undue .interference in the.procedure... The practice of. 1mped1ng
“lawyers to dct’ was becoming worse and-extended also to other courts such as
the special civil courts dealing with family questions. He further . stated
that the Bar Assoc1at10n had never been formally dissolved, but that some 50
lawyers were 1nformed through official announcements in the newspapers that -
they had lost their licences in accordance with rullngs by Islamic Revolutlon
Courts. At the beginning of the Revolution the president and most of the "
members of the board of d1rectors of the Bar Association had either been
arrested or had fled. A new president had therefore been appointed by the
Ministry of Justice in order to get access to the Association's accounts.v 'He-
accumulated many functions including that of legal advisor to the President.’
The witness further stated that lawyers like himself had to pay their
contribution to the Association but did not get any support from it.

Situation of the Baha'is

222. The Special Representative also met leading personalities of the Baha'i
community who confirmed that the situation of their members had generally
improved. Nevertheless, all religious shrines remained confiscated. 1In the
past year Baha'is had benefited from a more tolerant attitude on the part of
the authorities. In this connection, they handed to the Spec1a1
Representative a recent circular 1ssued by the Prlme Mlnlster which is
reproduced in annex V.

223. The witnesses also reported that at the primary and secondary school
levels no problems had occurred in recent months. However, only four Baha'is
had been admitted to universities. It was now easier for Baha'is to obtain
business licences, but many properties remained conflscated and petitions in
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this regard were not being given due consideration. In one such case in which
the owner of the property had also.been arrested, a court in Qom had ruled in

his favour. However, the person was still being detained at Evin prison and
:the property had not been returned.

224. Many difficulties were also being faced with regerd to Government

pensions. In some such cases Baha'is had to pay back not only the pension but

also all salaries received as of the day of their first Government
employment. Those who refused or were simply unable to do so had to face
severe'prison sentences. Another major problem consisted in the fact that
most Baha'is were refused passports. In the past 10 months, some 1,000
persons had applied, but only three had actually recelved a passport. A
further 15 had been called for questlonlng to the President's Office without
any result to date.

Situation of the 'Armgnign minority

225.. On- Friday, 26 January, the Special Representative v131ted an Armenian
association called Ararat. The association's social and cultural activities
‘are Held in a very spacious gymnasium in a district of Tehran During his
conversatlon with members of the executive ‘board, the Special Representative
received 1nformat10n on the activities and way of life of this religious
minority. He was told that the life of other religious minorities is ,
similar. On 20 January, he also paid a brief visit to an Armenian church
during Sunday mass.

226. The. cultural and soc1a1 centre he visited has 2, 000 members of all ages
and the executive board and the administrators are chosen by direct vote.

:;AlongSIGe ‘the- centre there is’ an” old eﬁciosed‘ATmenlan cemetery and & small” T T,

church wh1ch is still in use. 1In September every year, the a85001at10n
organizes "olympic games" at which many Armenian athletes and sports clubs
from throughout the country compete. The twenty—second olympics were held in
1989.. More than 15 similar associations. are in existence in Tehran..

227. The Armenian religious minority, con81st1ng of about 200,000 people, is
concentrated largely in Tehran and has smaller groups. of 5,000 to 20,000
people in Isfahan, Ourmiyeh, Tabriz and Arak. The Armenlans have two deputies
in Parllament, one representing those from the north and another representing -
those from the south. . About 30, 000 are registered voters.( Several candidates
present themselves for a parllamentary seat. In Tehran, they publlsh a. weekly
intended chiefly to report on Armenian communities throughout the world. The

Special Representative had an opportunlty to talk with the editor of the.
weekly.

t

228. Both the Armenians and the other religious minorities freely practlce

their rellglon. In Tehran, the Armenians have seven active churches and
twelve in Isfahan.

2. Written ianrmation

229 During his visit to the ISlamlC Republlc of Iran, the Spec1a1

Representatlve recelved hundreds of letters and other written communlcatlons,
mostly in Persian, from Iranians living in the country Communications from
the Organization for Defending Victims of Violence were handed to the Spec1a1

" Representative by the Iranian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. In view of the
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short time between the completion of the visit and the date on which the
present report had to be finalized, it was not possible to examine and analyse
all written communications in detail. The Special Representative has,

however, made an attempt to categorize the allegations they contain as follows:

(a) A large number of identical letters from "a group of freed political
prisoners" refute allegations of arbitrary arrest or torture and state that
former prisoners are now living a normal life as free citizens who enjoy all
the "available social advantages". Similar letters were received from other
former prisoners writing that they were deceived and misled by the Mojahedin
and denouncing the silence and inactivity of the United Nations with regard to
their grievances. They claim that the Mojahedin no longer enjoy any popular
support, -that they kill and threaten innocent people, ''savagely torture '
pasdars" (revolutionary guards) and collaborate with Iraq. They also -accuse
the Mojahedin of compiling lists of people allegedly executed who are in fact
alive and well. ' catt e

(b) ‘In a considerable number of letters ex-prisoners state that they
were arrested but never tortured and speak of "excellent living conditions and
humane treatment in prisons'. Many of these letters express the view that the
Government effectively helped former Mojahedin to 'reintegrate into 'society
and work as useful citizens". They also emphasize that fundamental freedoms
are respected in the Islamic Republic of Iran. . e e &

(c) In a third category of letters, the writers complain about ﬁofﬂbeing
able to keep their appointments at the United Nations Development Programme
office since they were prevented from entering. Many letters contain ‘

. allegations. .as..follows:. . a number of prisoners were freed before the Special
" Representative's visit and instructedvtdﬂpaintiamrosy»picture'ofuprisongﬁ' T

conditions. They are said to be under close surveillance and might return to
prison when the Special Representative leaves the country. The conditions in
prisons are described as deplorable, in particular with regard to solitary -
confinement, sanitary installations, heating, ventilatiom, hot water and -
blankets as well as diet. The families of prisoners claim that they are
subjected ‘to intimidation, harassment and ill-treatment during visits. They
also denounce torture and ill-treatment of prisoners and say that when they
are told that a prisoner is in hospital this means he has '‘been severely
beaten. - It -is further stated that prison directors systematically abuse their
position and their decisions appear to prevail over those of the judicial
authorities. Other allegations concern the raping of women who have been
sentenced to death, the denial of medical assistance to prisoners, cases of
‘execution after the completion of prison sentences and the virtual
impossibility for former political prisoners to find employmént.

230. During the mission some 70 cables and messages were -addressed both to the
Secretary-General of the United Nations and the'Special Representative from
persons and organizations outside the Islamic Republic of Iran, including many
parliamentarians from Austria, Canada, Denmark, the Federal Republic of
Germany, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland and the
United States of America. Most of these communications suggested that the

duration of the visit should be extended in order to allow for a more thoroughA

investigation and for the hearing of more testimonies. Others made
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suggestions for the conduct of the visit and drew to the Special
Representative's attention the fact that many persons W1sh1ng to see him had

. not been able to do so; still others expressed concern over threats recelved

by w1tnesses and the possible arrest of some of them.v

231. While express1ng his gratltude for ‘the many useful suggestions made,_the
Special Representative recalls that the length of the visit was in keeping
with the practice established during previous fact—flndlng missions .of a
similar nature. Due to the necess1ty of presenting a report to the current
session of the Commission -on Human Rights, which started 1ts deliberations on
the day of return of the Special Representatlve, and the t1me required for the
translation and processing of the report, an extension of the visit could not
be considered. As regards the concern over possible ‘threats to or persecutlon
of witnesses, reference is made to the exchange of 1etters between the .
Permanent Representative of the Islamic Republic of Iran to ‘the United Nations
and the Special Representatlve, dated 24 November 1989 (see paras. 11, 12

and 13), as well as to the aide-mémoire handed to the Deputy Minister for .

V. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

232. This final report marks a ‘major development in’ the fulfilment of the
Spec1a1 Representatlve s mandate and in the resolutlons adopted by the

General Assembly and the ‘Commission on Human Rights: the visit to the Islamic
Republlc of Iran and the on—the—spot examlnatlon of the human rights’
51tuat10n. "For the first time since the' mandate was 1ssued in 1984, the
Government 1nv1ted the Spec1a1 Representatlve to visit the Islamic Republlc of
Iran. ‘
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© 233.7The Spec1a1 Represéentative wishes to place on ‘record his gratltude to the

Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran for its co—operatlon in the" course
of the v131t, the facilities afforded to him in his ‘task and its readlness to
extend the visit, although this was not possible in view of the strict

time- 11m1ts 1mposed by the imminent start of the Comm1851on s work.

234 On his return to Geneva, ‘the Spe01a1 Representatlve discovered that the
press Or the media attributed to him statements made follow1ng the visit to
the Islamic Republlc of Iran. The Commlss1on on Human Rights should know that
neither he nor any member of the group that v1s1ted the country made any :
statement whatsoever. Even though he is unaware of the substance of the‘ -
statements attributed to him, the Spec1a1 Representatlve would p01nt out’ most
emphatically that he made no statement whatsoever, either in public or- 1n i_
private,’ and that he has not even spoken w1th anybody about the subJect T
because it was his firm 1ntent10n that the report should be drawn up’ w1thout
interpretations or speculatlons that would compromise its obJectlveness and
that nothlng should be said before the Commlss1on received 1t

Capenr

235. Communication between the Special Representative and the Government of
the Islamic Republlc of Iran is at a suitably high level and there is no ',;‘
topic, problem or issue that cannot be openly discussed through expedltlous
channels. As a result of the visit, further poss1b111t1es of communlcatlon .
were opened up.
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236. The report sets out 1nformat10n received before and during the visit. It
should be noted that allegations ‘similar to those of previous years were st111
being received and that, during the period under review, there was a
considerable increase in assertlons, testlmony and documents about terrorism.
During the visit, terrorlsm also featured a great deal in the statements by
Iranian off1c1als ‘and many witnesses.

237. The allegatlons of human rlghts v1olat10ns have been arranged under
different headings, to deal with them more eas1ly, ‘and the testlmony has been
split up, where appropriate, and placed under the headlng 1nvolved. It was
physically 1mp0351b1e to accommodate everyone who' w1shed to make a statement,
but sufficient testimony was gathered to establish or fill out the head1ngs'
into which the avallable information is classed.  To hear all of the people
who W1shed to speak about the1r experiences, it would have been necessary to
extend the v151t not only by. a few days, but probably by a few weeks. Some
witnesses were unable to keep the app01ntment they had been given. This. was
. due, among ‘other thlngs, ‘to the people crowding outside the Un1ted Nations_'
' Development Programme's office, who literally blocked off the path for anyone
who,wanted to enter and they were . d1sorder1y 1n their behaviour.

238. Authorities and officials contacted by the Special Representat1ve spoke
about general issues’ and said the Government ‘of the Islamic Repub11c of Iran
had been. frlendly to all nat1ons,,part1cu1ar1y ne1ghbour1ng countries,. butphad
not met with a’ pos1t1ve response. They went on to speak of k1nds of pressure
from abroad, help to armed gangs, . terrorlsm, disinformation, the elght—year
~war and the July 1988 invasion. Generally, ‘their p01nts were'f the .
international’ ‘commuriity listens to terrorist groups; “information abroad has

.--been-and still is being manipulated; United Nations bodies apply. two different _
' standards as” ‘far “as” human rights "are- concerned ‘because for - p011t1cal reasons a-

very close eye is kept on some countries, whereas others wh1ch commit serlous
human r1ghts v1olat10ns do not come under any. 1nternat10nal mon1tor1ng )
procedure. .
239, The Special Representative observed that there is a deep split in Iranian
society as a result of the hectic revolut1onary period and that one, 1ngred1ent
in this split has been the armed struggle, in which terror1sm has had a part),
sometimes with devastatlng effects. Complaints are ‘heard on “all s1des and
among all social classes, from some who deplore and condemn the armed .
struggle, from others who are distressed by the punishment meted out and B
reject it in the bellef that. it has been applied improperly and undermlned "the
dignity of prisoners, and a significant number who maintain that their ideals
have been crushed and their youthful naivety has been exploited. The meetings
of mothers and of wives of the dead are a symbol of the social polar1zat1on.
outside the office of the United Nations Development Programme, large groups
of women were demonstratlng against terrorism, to which they attributed their
troubles and the loss of their loved ones, whereas, at the other end of Tehran
at the Behest Zahra cemetery, mothers and wives of the executed were meeting,
as they do every Thursday and Friday afternoon, to weep for the1r 1oved ones,
the executed and those burled in common graves.

240. The Special Representative, as in earlier reports, condemms terrorism in
all its forms, whatever the motive, pretext or aim. During the visit to the

Islamic Republic of Iran, he received ample official and private information

about the disastrous effects of this kind of political activity. However, it
has to be borne in mind that the parties to international instruments are
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States and‘are, of course, represented by Governments, and hence the -
grievances are chiefly directed against them. By extension and in keeping
with recent practice, it has been understood that 1nsurgent groups should also
respect human rlghts,'although Governments recognized by the 1nternat10na1 y
community and 1nsurgents are not on the same footing.

241. The testimony gathered reiterated'complaints received in Geneva about
unlawful executions, torture, substitute prisoners, imprisonment beyond the
period specified in the sentence, spontaneous decisions by low—ranklng
officials and the absence of counsel for the defence. Other witnesses stated
the opposite because they had been arrested in the course of clandestine
activities against the Government, had been treated 1en1ent1y and subsequently
pardoned. Testimony was also gathered on restrictions on the.right of"
association. A study of the’ test1mony,‘represent1ng two d1fferent kinds of
personal experlence and views, 1s in 1tse1f 111um1nat1ng

:242. ThetSpec1a1 Representatlve was able to verlfy that four persons shown on
;lists of executed persons were still alive. With a ‘copy of the list of |

executed persons, these four people presented their identity cards, wh1ch
included photographs, and their identity was established so far as was
possible without laboratory proof. Another dozen’ ,persons also ‘maintained that
they had been 1ncluded on the 11sts, but they did’ not have their 1dent1ty
cards on them when the case was examlned 1n the course of a collectlve '
interview in the Hotel Azadi.

243, The allegation that political prisoners had been executed under false

charges of drug trafflcklng was given spec1a1 attention during the visit. In
the llght of the testlmony recelved and published in earlier reports about

the explanat1ons given by the Special’ Prosecutor for Drug Trafflcklng Offences
and the testimony from 1ead1ng figures in the political opposition who are
living in the country, the Special Representative considers it his duty to
acquaint the Commission with his conviction on this matter. He has always
treated this 1nformat10n cautlously and taken it as a point of departure for
further inquiry. Three witnesses from the political opposition, who were well

informed and spoke on other" issues that were not precisely favourable to the

Government, said they were not’ aware of a 51ngle case of a p011t1ca1 prlsoner

_being executed as if he were a drug trafflcker. It would be strange if,
“living in the place and’ follow1ng events so closely, such persons had not

learned of facts of such great significance. 1In the light of his conviction

and in all honesty, the Special Representative considers that, unless spec1f1c
proof is submitted to him in this regard, this allegation 1nvolves elements of
speculatlon and he rules it out. -

¢

244, The number of executlons and the guarantees of due process of law were
topics that arose in many conversations. The Special Representative’
repeatedly brought up the subject of the number of executions and adduced
reasons for doing so, on the basis of international instrumeénts and on
humanitarian grounds. Many drug trafflckers can be rehabilitated and’ _
re1ncorporated into society and should in any event enjoy the’ guarantees of .
due process of law. Certainly the deterrent character of the executions has
disappeared because there have been none in public for five months, but’ many
persons, probably hundreds, are still awaiting execution. As he was 1eav1ng
the country, the Special Representatlve presented a request for clemency in’
this regard. He has gained the 1mpre551on that thls harsh policy could become
a good deal less severe.

“§uch 1ndicat10ns “as hearing" ‘somebody shout “that he was not a drug trafflcker,ﬁwlm T
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245, The guarantees of“due process of law now include appeal and review and

they are operat1ve ‘with regard to convictions in general and review usually
applies in respect of the revolutlonary courts. The Supreme Court of Justice
has the last word. Cr1t1c1sms are made, for some lawyers would like an appeal
to lie not only against the sentence, but dgainst other ‘rulings in the trial,
but this remedy does exist, and 1t_may_be_broadened

246. Admittedly, the Iranlan Constltutlon prov1des for the as51stance of a
lawyer and makes no exceptlon in’ any case whatever. However, many w1tnesses
speak of the absence of counsel and such testlmony is stlll being received.
The Spec1a1 Representat1ve belleves he’ has 1dent1f1ed two gaps that might

" explain why some proceedlngs are held w1thout a 1awyer for the defence:. when

the accused person refuses to accept such assistance or when the lawyer called

'upon refuses to take over- ‘the defence.. The practlcal effects in these two,

cases are that some proceédifigs, particularly trials for’ drug trafficking and
political offences, may be held without counsel for the defence. The Special
Representative believes™ that a way of’ overcomlng these gaps should be”
examined, for they turn into opportunltles ‘to make sure’ that ‘there is no N
defence counselj; in thls connection, he would suggest that the right to 1ega1
ass1stance should be declared an 1na11enable right and that a rule should be

“adopted that no cr1m1na1 proceed1ngs may be 1nst1tuted, pursued and completed

without continuous as51stance from a lawyer, who would be afforded ‘sufficient
time to gather evidence and make a plea based on 1ega1 reasonlng or lenlence
on humanitarian grounds.

247. Moreover, the testlmony gathered dur1ng the v1s1t to the Islamic’ Republlc
of Iran repeats ‘a’ number of allegat1ons communlcated to the Government in ‘the

regulations establlshed by the h1gher authorities’ because there may be some
problem of enforcement at the adm1nlstrat1ve level

248. There were repetltlons of allegatlons about prlsoners completlng their
sentence and still being held in custody indefinitely, and persons completing
their sentence and then being executed. Testlmony collected privately and.
statements ‘taken at Evin’ prlson in ‘the presence ‘of prison officials again
spoke of ill- treatment and torture. The Special Representative has also

~insisted that detalled replles to’ these and other allegatlons are necessary as

part of the process of studylng the human rlghts 51tuat10n. v

249. The Government of the Islamlc Republlc of Iran has been receptive to some
criticisms made in earlier reports by the Special Representatlve, for example,
about public and mass executions of drug traffickers and about incorporating
in the penalty the time that has been served before the sentence is handed
down. This receptiveness 1nd1cates that” other suggestlons and criticisms
could well be taken into account. In the course of the actual visit, the
following suggestions were, in prlnclple, favourably received: regular v151ts

by the International Committee of the Red Cross to prisons throughout the

country in order to ascertain the condltlons‘of imprisonment and, in
particular, to look into the situation of political prisoners;'the possibility
of the Centre for Human Rights providing technical assistance to the
Government of the Islamic Republlc of Iran in matters pertaining to human
rights; the acceptance of a programme to identify clashes or inconsistencies

_between Islamic law and international law, particularly internationally

recognized human rights, so as to make it easier for the Iranian Government to

1igher : authorltles _should look _
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bring its system ‘into 11ne with international standards, and consideration of
requests the Spec1a& Representatlve may transmit on purely humanitarian
grounds. The Spe01aI\Re§}esentat1ve handed over a request for a marked
reduction in death sentences and about the case of a person in urgent need of
medical treatment. outside prison walls.

250. The Special Representative received information on frequent clemency
measures. While this report was being completed, he received from the
Permanent Mission of the Islamic Republic of Iran to the United Nations Office
at Geneva an announcement of a clemency measure for persons sentenced by -
military courts: persons sentenced to one year will be freed and longer
sentences will be reduced by half.

251. The information gathered by the Special Representative in Geneva on the
situation of the Baha'is was confirmed in Tehran by the testimony of two
members of this group. They supplied a circular from the Prime Minister,
whose duties were later taken up by the President of the Republic, instructing
the authorities about the treatment of the Baha'is. The circular was .
satisfactory to the visitors and to the other members of this faith. Imn
addltlon, the witnesses said that a ruling by the Supreme Court of Justice had

“been in their favour and established a marked precedent, although it has not

yet been enforced. The Special Representative's impression is that the .
situation of the Baha'is is moving towards quite broad de facto tolerance. .

252. At the round table held at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to sum wup the
visit, the Special Representative expressed the opinion that the Government's
next step could consist in providing detailed replies to the allegations .,

transmitted to it. In order for these replies to be prepared, the allegations

. would have "to be investigated; it might well prove that some offigials had " -

failed in the performance of their duties and that d1sc1p11nary measures or

.punishment would be needed or, on the contrary, that it would be approprlate‘

to demonstrate that the allegations were inaccurate, false or mistaken. Both
the Government and the procedure established by the Commission on Human Rights
would benefit from such concrete co-operation. - The visit needs to be i
supplemented by these replies so that the consideration of the alleged cases
may continue and conclusions may be reached on the situation as a wholeQ_

253. In view of these facts and cons1derat10ns, it is the Special
Representative's conclusion that, in his view, the Commission should contlnue
to monitor the human rights situation in the Islamic Republic of Iran and that
another visit seems desirable,-and even necessary, .in order to broaden the
study with many cases which it was not possible to collect, to go deeper into
situations which still call for greater knowledge of the facts and to listen
to many persons who felt disappointed because so little time was available.




